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MISSION STATEMENT

To invest in businesses

with high growth potential

so as to increase

shareholder value
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2  City e-Solutions Limited and its Subsidiaries

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
On behalf of the Board of Directors, I am pleased to present 
the Group’s results for the fi nancial year ended 31 December 
2009 (“FY2009”). 

The Group reported a very signifi cant improvement in net 
profi t attributable to equity shareholders of the Company of 
HK$55.9 million as compared with a net loss attributable to 
equity shareholders of HK$139.0 million in the previous year 
ended 31 December 2008 (“FY2008”).  The improvement 
was due to the pre-tax profi t contribution of HK$49.6 million 
in FY2009  from its investment holding business segment  as 
compared with a pre-tax loss of HK$101.2 million in FY2008. 
Following improved market sentiment in the securities and 
foreign currency markets, this segment recorded unrealised 
profi t of HK$30.5 million as a result of the revaluation of the 
Group’s trading securities to fair value as at 31 December 
2009 as well as a net unrealised translation exchange gain 
of HK$15.4 million arising mainly from the Sterling Pound 
denominated trading security and cash deposit. The total 
amount of HK$45.9 million compares favourably to the total 
net unrealised losses of HK$103.8 million reported in the 
previous year. 

The Group also recorded higher dividend income amounting 
to HK$10.3 million as compared with HK$2.0 million in the 
previous year. However, with the decline in interest rates 
globally, interest income was lower at HK$2.9 million as 
compared with HK$14.4 million in the previous year.

The Group’s Hospitality Related Services business segment 
recorded lower revenue and profi t for the year under review. 
The continuing challenging economic environment has 
resulted in lower revenue of HK$39.6 million for the current 
year, down by HK$9.8 million, from HK$49.4 million in the 
previous year.  This is mainly due to lower revenue contributed 
by Richfi eld Hospitality, Inc. (“Richfi eld”), the Group’s hotel 
management arm.  The current recession in the US economy 
has caused most of Richfi eld’s managed hotels to record 
lower revenues and operating profi ts compared to the 
previous year, which in turn resulted in lower management 
fees.  Management had prudently operated the business 
throughout the year in review and kept a tight control on 
costs in order to offset the lower level of revenue.  As at 
31 December 2009, Richfi eld manages a portfolio of 19 
hotels representing over 3,000 rooms while Sceptre provides 
revenue management, electronic and distribution services to 
over 400 properties.

As the global recession continues and 

the credit environment remains tight, 

investment opportunities may become 

available at attractive and reasonable 

valuations as compared to previous 

pricing levels. The Group still has 

signifi cant cash reserves to capitalise 

on any such price dislocation that may 

arise in the current environment.
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During the year 2009, the Group rationalised that it would 
be more prudent to participate in investments where it 
can exercise greater management control in order to be 
able to respond more quickly to changes in the operating 
environment.  Furthermore, the Group felt it would best 
maximise returns by exiting investments that performed 
below expectations and redeploying the capital to other 
higher-yielding investment opportunities.  Accordingly, the 
Group disposed of the following investments:-

1.  On 23 March 2009, the Group completed the sale of 
its 50% equity interest in MindChamps Holdings Pte 
Limited (“MindChamps”). In view of the losses incurred 
in FY2008 as a result of the reduction in consumer 
discretionary spending caused by the economic recession 
and the uncertainty of the macroeconomic environment, 
the Group deemed that it would be prudent to divest 
its interest in this education-related venture.  The Group 
recognised a profit of HK$5.1 million as compared 
with a loss of HK$43.0 million in the previous year. 
Following the sale, the Group no longer proportionately 
consolidates the financial results of MindChamps and 
the result has been reported as discontinued operations.  
As per the sale and purchase agreement between 
the Group and the buyer, payments by the buyer will 
continue until March 2011 when the total consideration 
is expected to be fully paid off.

2.  In March and April 2009, the Group completed the sale 
of the remaining two units of residential properties in 
Singapore held for resale at a total revenue of HK$12.5 
million as compared with revenue of HK$9.9 million on 
the sale of one unit in the previous year.   Accordingly, 
a smaller pre-tax profit of HK$0.7 million was realised 
for the current year as compared with a pre-tax profit of 
HK$3.5 million recorded in the previous year. 

3.  On 2 September 2009, the Group completed the sale of 
its 40% equity interest in Tune Hospitality Investments 
FZCO for a total consideration of US$4 million (about 
HK$31.0 million) and recorded a disposal gain of 
HK$0.8 million for the year under review. The delay 
in the development of the acquired land sites due to 
the economic slowdown had negatively impacted the 
expected returns of this investment.

Basic earnings per share for the year under review amounted 
to HK$14.61 cents, calculated on the weighted average 
number of 382,449,524 ordinary shares in issue during the 

year.  The Group’s Net Tangible Assets per share increased 
to HK$1.48 as at 31 December 2009, up from HK$1.32 as 
at 31 December 2008. The Board is not proposing a final 
dividend for the year under review.

PROSPECTS

Business conditions continue to remain challenging in the 
coming year and management will adopt a cost-conscious 
approach towards managing its current business.

The Group continues to hold some trading securities while 
its cash reserves are in a basket of currencies. From time 
to time, there could be continued adjustments attributable 
to unrealised gains or losses arising from the fair value  
re-adjustments of the Group’s trading securities and 
unrealised gains or losses on revaluation of foreign currency 
cash deposits.

As the global recession continues and the credit environment 
remains tight, investment opportunities may become 
available at attractive and reasonable valuations as compared 
to previous pricing levels.  The Group still has significant cash 
reserves to capitalise on any such price dislocation that may 
arise in the current environment.

I would also like to extend a warm welcome to Greg 
Mount, a vastly experienced hospitality executive who has 
been a prominent member of the hospitality industry for 
over 25 years. Appointed as the new President of Richfield 
Hospitality in November 2009, Greg will use his extensive 
multi-disciplinary background in operations and acquisitions 
to mold Richfield’s strategic growth plan and significantly 
expand the portfolio going forward, both via acquisitions 
and third-party management contracts.

On behalf of the Board of Directors, I would like to thank our 
customers, business partners, shareholders, management 
and staff for their continued support during this past year.

KWEK LENG BENG
Chairman
23 February 2010
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Consolidated Income Statement

The Group

2009
HK$’000

2008
HK$’000

2007
HK$’000

2006
HK$’000

2005
HK$’000

Continuing Operations
Turnover 65,270 75,539 82,561 79,010 84,518 

Profit/(Loss) before taxation 51,417 (89,659) 17,470 74,581 7,370 

Income tax (119) (6,014) (3,547) 20,871  - 

Profit/(Loss) from continuing operations  51,298  (95,673)  13,923  95,452  7,370 

Discontinued operations
Profit/(Loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax 5,105 (43,005) 2,284  -  - 

Profit/(Loss) for the year 56,403 (138,678) 16,207 95,452 7,370 

Attributable to:
Equity shareholders of the Company 55,865 (138,991) 14,091 90,152 5,392 

Minority interests 538 313 2,116 5,300 1,978 
Profit/(Loss) for the year 56,403 (138,678) 16,207 95,452 7,370 

Dividends payable to equity shareholders of

the Company attributable to the year:

Final dividend proposed after balance sheet date  -  - 11,494 22,988 11,494 

Earnings/(Losses) per share
Basic earnings/(losses) per share (HK cents) 14.61 (36.32) 3.68 23.53 1.41 

Continuing operations
Basic earnings/(losses) per share (HK cents)  13.28  (25.08) 3.08 23.53 1.41 

FINANCIAL STATISTICS SUMMARY
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Balance Sheets 

The Group

2009
HK$'000

2008
HK$'000

2007
HK$'000

2006
HK$'000

2005
HK$'000

Plant and equipment 2,472 7,612 7,626 6,587 4,785 

Intangible assets 103 3,651 39,032 302 343 

Interest in an associate  - 30,039 10,045  -  - 

Deferred tax assets 12,814 12,940 17,906 21,083  - 

Current assets 607,699 538,204 674,114 694,649 637,290 

Total Assets  623,088  592,446  748,723  722,621  642,418 

Current liabilities (21,007) (47,224) (50,509) (20,271) (24,596)

Total Assets less Current Liabilities  602,081  545,222  698,214  702,350  617,822 

Net Assets  602,081  545,222  698,214  702,350  617,822 

Capital and Reserves

Share capital 382,450 382,450 383,126 383,126 383,126 

Reserves 183,368 127,044 279,428 285,794 206,655 

Total Equity Attributable to Equity
Shareholders of the Company  565,818  509,494  662,554  668,920  589,781 

Minority interests 36,263 35,728 35,660 33,430 28,041 

Total Equity  602,081  545,222  698,214  702,350  617,822 
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8  City e-Solutions Limited and its Subsidiaries

PRODUCTS and SERVICES

The SWAN team offers 
a host of value-added 
services and expertise 
in all facets of hotel 
operations through its 
four business divisions: 
Richfield, Sceptre, Shield 
and Source.

SWAN Holdings Limited Group 
(“SWAN”)
SWAN, a ‘CES’ 85%-owned subsidiary, 
is a multi-service company providing 
integrated and affordable solutions 
to the hospitality industry. SWAN can 
help hoteliers manage their properties 
smarter, more competitively, and more 
cost effectively, all under the banner of 
one comprehensive service company. 
The SWAN team offers a host of 
value-added services and expertise in 
all facets of hotel operations through 
its four business divisions: Richfield, 
Sceptre, Shield and Source.

Richfield Hospitality Services 
(Hotel Management)
Richfield is an established independent 
hotel management company. For 
over three decades, Richfield has 
successfully managed and skillfully 
developed a wide range of hotel assets. 
We have managed properties of all 
complexities including premier resorts, 
full service hotels and limited service 
properties. As at 31 December 2009, 
Richfield operated 19 hotels in the US 
representing in excess of 3,000 rooms 
under brand names from the leading 
hotel franchise companies including 
Hilton, Starwood, Intercontinental 
and Choice. We also operate several 
independent (non-brand affiliated) 
properties. 

Every client’s property benefits from 
our senior management’s combined 
145 years of experience and industry 
expertise. Each assignment begins 
by determining the needs of the 
owner. We review the property’s prior 
performance, identify opportunities 
and assess challenges. Richfield then 
tailors the appropriate solution to 
deliver immediate visible improvements 
in the performance of the property. 

With our resources, processes, systems, 
and technologies, our results consistently 
exceed clients’ expectations. The result 
is increased profitability to the owner 
and an upgraded and enhanced 
experience for each guest. For the 
past 30 years, Richfield has revitalised 
over 250 properties, ranging from 
independent, boutique hotels to large, 
city center properties and virtually 
every industry brand. Richfield achieves 
superior operating results through 
intense focus on its strong commitment 
to guests, employees and owners. In 
managing these hotels, we fully utilise 
the strength of our company’s resources 
and years of experience to increase 
the value of each property, making it 
better positioned in its market with 
increased profitability to the owner and 
an upgraded and enhanced experience 
for each guest. 

Services offered by Richfield covers 
all aspects of hotel management 
including:
•	Annual	Business	Planning
•	Operations	Improvement
•	Sales	&	Marketing	Consulting
•	 	Revenue	and	Channel	Management
•	 	Management	of	Franchise	Affiliation
•	Human	Resources	Management
•	Accounting	and	Budgeting

Consistent efforts to grow client 
relationship and maximise profitability 
of the hotels have culminated in the 
successful positioning of Richfield as a 
fundamental component of SWAN. 

Sceptre Hospitality Resources 
(Reservation Distribution)
Sceptre is the hospitality industry’s 
leading expert for online channel 
marketing and revenue/channel-
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management consulting. By increasing 
exposure of its client hotels throughout 
the various electronic channels and 
optimising its vast channel-marketing 
reach, Sceptre helps hotels to increase 
revenues and create greater brand 
awareness while improving asset value 
of owners and operators. By creating 
a customised, strategic e-distribution 
strategy for its partner hotels, Sceptre 
maximises sales production and 
marketing exposure through the 
various on-line channels and increases 
each hotel’s presence throughout the 
global-distribution systems, the Internet 
and property direct sources. Sceptre’s 
e-distribution power and expertise is 
unsurpassed, utilising state-of-the-art 
reservations technology and offering 
a strong commitment to customer 
service and support. 

At Sceptre, we distinguish ourselves 
from our competitors by providing:
•	 	Hospitality Experts. Our staff 

of professionals has an extensive 
industry background and can fully 
appreciate the needs of clients.

•	 	Customer Service. We provide 
focused support of each client to 
ensure maximum production from 
the various channels.

•	 	Monthly Account Analysis. Each 
month, we analyse and review the 
performance of individual hotels and 
work with the client to ensure that 
revenue objectives are met. 

•	 	Affordable Pricing. With transaction-
fixed pricing, the client will enjoy low 
costs without compromising support.

•	 	Flexibility. Our electronic distribution 
channel can quickly address changes, 
meeting the needs of the most 
unique and discerning client.

•	 	Personalised Attention. With a 
ratio of 50:1 clients to Strategic 
Distribution Managers, our clients’ 
unique needs are immediately met. 

The current portfolio of services 
includes
•	 	Distribution	Consulting	and	Analysis
•	 	Electronic	Marketing	and	Channel	

Management 
•	 	Global	Distribution	System	

Representation 
•	 	Website	Booking	Engine
•	 	Private-label	Voice	Reservations
•	 	Consortia	RFP	Submission	Service

The combination of Sceptre’s expert 
assistance, and its array of services 
and products, can greatly enhance its 
clients’ abilities to achieve significant 
increases in reservations derived 
through the various electronic 
distribution channels. 

Shield (Risk Management)
Shield provides risk management 
services to hotels. Recognising the 
unique risk profile of the hotel industry, 
Shield advises hotel management 
teams on how to lower its overall 
cost of insurance through pro-active 
programmes to mitigate risks at their 
hotels.

Source (Purchasing and 
Procurement)
Source delivers purchasing and 
procurement services to hotels with 
focus on delivering lower operating 
expenses to hotels and higher return 
on investments to owners. Source 
offers hoteliers significant cost savings 
and economies of scale through its 
extensive number of national account 
agreements which are organised to 
support specific areas of need within 
each hotel such as Food and Beverage, 
Rooms Operations, Engineering and 
Energy, Administrative, Furnishings, 
Fixtures and Equipment.
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10  City e-Solutions Limited and its Subsidiaries

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Group Performance
As reported in the Chairman’s 
statement, the Group’s performance 
in FY2009 showed a significant 
improvement in net profit attributable 
to the equity shareholders of the 
Company despite lower Group 
revenue. The net profit attributable to 
equity shareholders of the Company 
amounted to HK$55.9 million as 
compared with a net loss attributable 
to equity shareholders of HK$139.0 
million in the previous year ended 31 
December 2008.  While the Group 
reported a lower revenue of  HK$65.3 
million, down by HK$10.2 million or 
13.5%, as compared with HK$75.5 
million in the previous year.

The Group’s Hospitality Related 
Services business segment reported 
a lower revenue of HK$39.6 million 
for the year under review, down 
by HK$9.8 million, from HK$49.4 
million in the previous year. The lower 
revenue was mainly due to the decline 
in the managed hotels’ operating 
results which have in turn affected 
the management fees recorded 
by the Group’s hotel management 
arm, Richfield, in the United States. 
Management has prudently operated 
the business throughout the year in 
review to mitigate against the lower 
level of revenue.

In addition, the Group recorded lower 
total dividends and interest income 
amounting to HK$13.2 million, 
down by HK$3.2 million or 19.5%, 
from HK$16.4 million in the previous 
year. While, the Group recorded 
higher dividend income amounting 
to HK$10.3 million as compared 
with HK$2.0 million in the previous 
year, interest income was negatively 
impacted by the decline in interest 
rates globally.  The Group’s interest 
income amounted to HK$2.9 million 
as compared with HK$14.4 million in 
the previous year. 

On a positive note, the Property 
Investment business segment reported 
higher revenue amounting to HK$12.5 
million from the sale of the remaining 
two units of residential properties in 
Singapore held for resale as compared 
with a revenue of HK$9.9 million on the 
sale of one unit in the previous year.   

Accordingly, higher cost of sales was 
recorded due to the carrying book 
cost of the two units of residential 
properties sold which amounted to 
HK$11.7 million as compared with 
HK$6.2 million, being the carrying 
book cost of one residential property 
sold in the previous year.

The main contributing factor for the 
significant improvement in the Group’s 
profit for the year under review as 
compared with a loss in the previous 
year was the net realised and unrealised 
gains as a result of the revaluation of 
the Group’s trading securities to fair 
value as at 31 December 2009 as well as 
the net realised and unrealised foreign 
exchange gains on the non-Hong Kong 
dollar denominated trading securities 
and cash deposits. 

Consequently, the Group’s investment 
holding business segment recorded 
profit amounting to HK$49.6 million 
as compared with a loss of HK$101.2 
million in the previous year. Further, 
the Group recorded profits on the 
divestment of 2 investments during the 
year. 
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On 23 March 2009, the Group 
completed the sale of its 50% equity 
interest in MindChamps and recognised 
a disposal profit of HK$5.1 million 
as compared with a loss of HK$43.0 
million recorded in the previous year.  
Following the sale, the Group no 
longer proportionately consolidates 
the financial results of MindChamps 
and the result has been reported as 
discontinued operations.  The Group 
would record additional gains as and 
when the deferred consideration 
amounting to about HK$13.4 million is 
received by March 2011.

On 2 September 2009, the Group 
completed the sale of its 40% equity 
interest in Tune for a total consideration 
of US$4 million (about HK$31.0 million) 
and recorded a disposal gain of HK$0.8 
million for the year under review. 

The analysis of the Group’s revenue 
and profit and loss from operations by 
business segments are set out in the 
notes to the financial statements.

Financial Position
As at 31 December 2009, the Group’s 
total assets stood at HK$623.1 million, 
increased from HK$592.4 million as at 
31 December 2008. The Group’s net 
tangible asset per share was HK$1.48 
as at 31 December 2009, higher 
by 12.1% from HK$1.32 as at 31 
December 2008.

The Group reports its results in Hong 
Kong dollars and it is the objective of 
the Group to preserve its value in terms 
of Hong Kong dollars.

Cash Flow and Borrowings
For the year under review, cash 
generated from operations amounted 
to HK$4.6 million. The Group received 
interest income of HK$3.0 million and 
paid tax amounting to HK$1.4 million. 
Consequently, net cash generated 
from operating activities amounted to 
HK$6.2 million.

The cash inflow from investing 
activities amounted to HK$32.0 million 
was mainly due to the proceeds from 
disposal of an associate amounting to 
HK$31.0 million. 
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Overall, there was an increase of 
HK$38.2 million in net cash generated 
which together with a favourable 
exchange translation gain of HK$12.1 
million resulted in a total Group’s cash 
and cash equivalents of  HK$489.2 
million as at 31 December 2009, 
up from HK$438.9 million as at 31 
December 2008.

The Group has no borrowings for the 
year under review.

Treasury Activities
Majority of the Group’s cash is held in 
United States dollar, Sterling Pound and 
Singapore dollar cash deposits. It is the 
Group’s view to maximise returns to 
shareholders and hence a portion of its 
portfolio is held in various currencies. 

We will closely monitor the Group’s 
exposure to currency movement and 
take the appropriate action when 
necessary.

Directors and Employees
As at 31 December 2009, the Group 
had a total of 41 employees, down from 
51 as at the end of the last financial 
year ended 31 December 2008.  

The total payroll costs for the year 
under review excluding the Group’s 
50% share of MindChamps was 
HK$28.3 million as compared with 
HK$26.8 million in year 2008.

The increase in the payroll costs can 
be attributed mainly to an unrealised 
gain arising from the revaluation of the 

investments as at 31 December 2009 
held in respect of the Group’s defined 
contribution plan for the employees in 
the United States.  

The payroll costs were negatively 
impacted by the movement in the 
equity price of these investments as 
at 31 December 2009. Therefore, 
excluding the impact arising from the 
revaluation of these investments, the 
Group’s payroll costs were lower at 
HK$26.5 million, down by HK$3.6 
million as compared to HK$30.1 million 
in the previous year. 

The Group has a competitive wage and 
benefits package which are critical to 
maintaining a level of consistent and 
quality services.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

(A) Corporate Governance Practices
  The Directors and management are committed to maintaining high standards of corporate governance, in line with 

the principles set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong 
Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) – “Code on Corporate Governance Practices” (“Appendix 14”). As good corpo-
rate governance, it is the intention of the Company to publish the Group’s financial results quarterly.   

  A “Continuous Disclosure Obligation Procedures” (the “Procedures”) dealing with the Company’s obligations for 
continuous disclosure under the Listing Rules was adopted by the Company and an executive director, Mr. Lawrence 
Yip Wai Lam (“Mr. Yip”), had been appointed as the Designated Director to be responsible for the Procedures. In 
his role as Designated Director, Mr. Yip will consult with the Chairman of the Board, the Chief Executive Officer and 
members of the executive management team, including the Company’s legal advisors, with regard to the Company’s 
discharge of its continuous disclosure obligations.  

  In the opinion of the Directors, save as disclosed below, the Company has complied with Appendix 14 throughout 
the year under review.    

  Under the code provision E.1.2, the chairman of the board should attend the annual general meeting. However, for 
the annual general meeting held on 22 April 2009, our Chairman was unable to attend the meeting as he had to 
attend to an urgent matter. He appointed Mr. Gan Khai Choon to chair the meeting on his behalf.  

(B) Directors’ Securities Transactions
  The Company has adopted the “Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers” as set out in 

Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules (“Model Code”). All directors have confirmed that they have complied with the 
Model Code throughout the year under review.  

(C) Board of Directors
  The Board currently comprises 8 Directors, of which 4 are executive Directors, 1 is a non-executive Director and 3 are 

independent non-executive Directors. The members of the Board are as follows:  

  Executive Directors 
  Mr. Kwek Leng Beng    (Chairman and Managing Director) 
  Mr. Kwek Leng Joo  
  Mr. Gan Khai Choon  
  Mr. Lawrence Yip Wai Lam  
  Mr. Kwek Leng Peck    (Resigned on 22 April 2009) 
	 	 Mr.	Vincent	Yeo	Wee	Eng		 	 (Retired	on	22	April	2009)	

  Non-executive Directors 
  Mr. Chan Bernard Charnwut 
  Mr. Wong Hong Ren    (Retired on 22 April 2009) 

  Independent Non-executive Directors 
  Dr. Lo Ka Shui 
  Mr. Lee Jackson @ Li Chik Sin 
  Mr. Teoh Teik Kee 
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(C) Board of Directors (Cont’d)
  The biographical details of the Directors and Senior Management are set out in the Directors section of the Directors’ 

Report. 

  The Company has received from each independent non-executive Director an annual confirmation of his independence 
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the Company still considers such Directors to be independent. 

  The Board’s primary functions are to set corporate policy and overall strategy for the Group and to provide effective 
oversight of the management of the Group’s business and affairs. Apart from its statutory responsibilities, the Board 
also approves the strategic plans, key operational issues, investments and loans, reviews the financial performance 
of the Group and evaluates the performance and compensation of senior management. These functions are either 
carried out directly by the Board or through committees established by the Board. 

  A“Schedule of Matters Reserved for Decision by Board” (the “Schedule”) has been adopted by the Company. 
The Board shall review the items in the Schedule on a periodic basis to ensure that they remain appropriate to the 
needs of the Group. The Directors, individually or as a group, are entitled to take independent professional advice, 
at the expense of the Company, in furtherance of their duties and in the event that circumstances warrant it. A 
“Guidelines for Seeking Independent Professional Advice” has been adopted by the Board. 

  The Company conducts regular scheduled Board meetings on a quarterly basis. Additional meetings are convened as 
and when circumstances warrant. The attendance of individual Directors at Board, Audit Committee, Remuneration 
Committee and Nomination Committee meetings in 2009, as well as the frequency of such meetings, is set out 
below: 

　

Attendance/Number of Meetings

Name of Directors Board 
Audit 

Committee 
Remuneration 

Committee 
Nomination 
Committee 

Executive Directors 

Mr. Kwek Leng Beng 4/4 

Mr. Kwek Leng Joo 3/4 

Mr. Gan Khai Choon 4/4 

Mr. Lawrence Yip Wai Lam 4/4 

Mr. Kwek Leng Peck (resigned on 22 April 2009) 1/1 

Mr.	Vincent	Yeo	Wee	Eng	(retired	on	22	April	2009)	 1/1 1/1 1/1 

Non-executive Directors 

Mr. Chan Bernard Charnwut 3/4 3/4 0/1 

Mr. Wong Hong Ren (retired on 22 April 2009) 1/1 

Independent Non-executive Directors 

Dr. Lo Ka Shui 3/4 1/1 

Mr. Lee Jackson @ Li Chik Sin 3/4 4/4 1/1 1/1 

Mr. Teoh Teik Kee 4/4 3/4 0/1 1/1 

  

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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(D) Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
  The Chairman of the Board is Mr. Kwek Leng Beng while the Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) is Mr. Sherman 

Kwek Eik Tse. There is a clear division of responsibilities between the Chairman and the CEO, in that the Chairman 
bears primary responsibility for the workings of the Board, by ensuring its effective function, while the CEO bears 
executive responsibility for the Company’s business, including management of the Company’s day-to-day operations 
and implementation of key policies, procedures and business strategies approved by the Board. 

(E) Non-executive Directors 
  The non-executive Directors were all appointed for a specific term of 3 years at the 2007 Annual General Meeting. 

They will retire from office by rotation and are eligible to offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual 
general meeting. 

(F) Remuneration Committee (“RC”) 
  The RC was established in May 2005 and comprises 2 independent non-executive Directors and 1 executive Director. 

The members of the RC are as follows: 

  Mr. Teoh Teik Kee    Chairman (Independent Non-executive) 
  Mr. Lee Jackson @ Li Chik Sin  Member (Independent Non-executive) 
	 	 Mr.	Vincent	Yeo	Wee	Eng		 	 Member	(Executive)	until	22	April	2009	
  Mr. Gan Khai Choon    Member (Executive) from 22 April 2009

  The primary objective of the RC is to consider management recommendation, and determine the framework or 
broad policy for remuneration for the Directors and the senior key executives, including the CEO. No Director or any 
of his associates may be involved in any decisions as to his own remuneration. 

 The duties of the RC also include: 

 a)  To review and recommend the criteria for assessing employee performance, which should reflect the 
Company’s business objectives and targets; and 

 b)  To consider the annual performance bonus for executive Directors, Senior Management, and the general 
staff, having regard to their achievements against the performance criteria and by reference to market norms, 
and make recommendation to the Board. 

  The Company’s remuneration policy comprises primarily a fixed component (in the form of a base salary) and a 
variable component (which includes bonus and share option grants), taking into account other factors, the individual 
performance, the performance of the Company and industry practices. 

(G) Nomination Committee (“NC”) 
  The NC was established in August 2005 and comprises 3 independent non-executive Directors, 1 non-executive 

Director and 1 executive Director. The members of the NC are as follows: 

  Dr. Lo Ka Shui     Chairman (Independent Non-executive) 
  Mr. Teoh Teik Kee    Member (Independent Non-executive) 
  Mr. Lee Jackson @ Li Chik Sin  Member (Independent Non-executive)
  Mr. Chan Bernard Charnwut   Member (Non-executive) 
	 	 Mr.	Vincent	Yeo	Wee	Eng		 	 Member	(Executive)	until	22	April	2009	
  Mr. Gan Khai Choon    Member (Executive) from 22 April 2009 
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 The duties of the NC include: 
 (a)  To review and monitor the structure, size and composition (including the skills, knowledge and experience) of 

the Board and make recommendations to the Board with regard to any proposed changes;

 (b)  To identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members and select, or make recommendations to 
the Board on the selection of, individuals nominated for directorships.

 (c)  To assess the independence of Directors, having regard to the requirements under the Listing Rules; and 

 (d)  To make recommendations to the Board on relevant matters relating to the appointment or re-appointment 
of Directors and succession planning for Directors in particular, the Chairman and the CEO. 

(H) Auditors’ remuneration 
  The Group’s external auditors are KPMG LLP (“KPMG”). During the year under review, the Group has engaged 

KPMG (including any entity that is under common control, ownership or management with KPMG or any entity that 
a reasonable and informed third party having knowledge of all relevant information would reasonably conclude as 
part of KPMG nationally or internationally) to provide the following services and their respective fees charged are set 
out as below:

Type of services 2009 2008 
HK$’000 HK$’000 

Audit fee for the Group 1,030 1,411 

Taxation services 120 25 

Others 663 746 

Total 1,813 2,182 

(I) Audit committee (“AC”) 
  The Company has an AC which was established in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules for the purposes 

of reviewing and providing supervision over the Group’s financial reporting process and internal controls. The AC 
comprises 2 independent non-executive Directors and 1 non-executive Director of the Company. The members of the 
AC are as follows: 

  Mr Lee Jackson @ Li Chik Sin   Chairman (Independent Non-executive) until 22 April 2009 and then 
Member (Independent Non-executive)

  Mr Teoh Teik Kee    Member  (Independent Non-executive) until 22 April 2009 and then 
Chairman (Independent Non-executive)

  Mr Chan Bernard Charnwut  Member (Non-executive)

  The principal responsibility of the AC is to assist the Board in maintaining a high standard of corporate governance, 
particularly by providing an independent review of the effectiveness of the Company’s financial reporting process and 
material internal controls, including financial, operational, compliance and risk management controls. Other duties 
within its written terms of reference include: 

(G) Nomination Committee (“NC”) (Cont’d) 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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 (a)   To review with management and, where appropriate, with the external auditors of the quarterly, half-year 
and annual financial statements before submission to the Board to ensure their completeness, accuracy and 
fairness; 

 (b)   To review, on an annual basis, of the scope and results of the audit and the independence and objectivity of 
the external auditors; and 

 (c)   To review the internal audit programme, ensure co-ordination between the internal and external auditors, 
and ensure that the internal audit function is adequately resourced and has appropriate standing within the 
Group. 

  In 2009, the AC held 4 meetings in February 2009, May 2009, August 2009 and November 2009. In the meeting 
held in February 2009, the Annual Report and Audited Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2008 
were reviewed together with the external auditors. In the May 2009 meeting, the Unaudited Financial Results for 
the 3 months ended 31 March 2009 were reviewed. In the August 2009 meeting, the Interim Financial Report for 
the 6 months ended 30 June 2009 was reviewed. In the November 2009 meeting, the Unaudited Financial Results 
for the 9 months ended 30 September 2009 were reviewed. The adequacy of internal control was also discussed in 
these meetings. The AC concluded that there were no major issues which the AC considered that the Board should 
be informed after the AC meetings. 

(J) Financial reporting 
  The Directors acknowledge that they are primarily responsible for the preparation of the financial statements which 

give a true and fair view and that appropriate accounting policies are selected and applied consistently. 

  To the best knowledge of the Directors, there is no uncertainty relating to events or conditions that may cast significant 
doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. 

(K) Internal control 
  The Board is responsible for the Group’s system of internal controls and for reviewing its effectiveness. During the 

year under review, the Board has through the AC reviewed the effectiveness of the Group’s system of internal 
controls, including financial, operational and compliance controls and risk management functions. 

  Internal audit was carried out on a systematic rotational basis based on the risk assessments of the operation and 
controls, and reports were presented to the AC at least twice every year on significant findings on internal control 
system. 

　

(I) Audit committee (“AC”) (Cont’d) 
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The Directors have pleasure in submitting their annual report together with the audited financial statements for the year 
ended 31 December 2009.

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS
City e-Solutions Limited (the “Company”) is a company incorporated in the Cayman Islands and domiciled in Hong Kong.  
Its registered office is at P.O. Box 309, Grand Cayman, Cayman Islands, British West Indies and principal place of business at 
Room 2803, 28th Floor, Great Eagle Centre, 23 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The principal activities of the Company comprise those of investment holding and the provision of consultancy services. 

The principal activities and other particulars of the subsidiaries are set out in note 17 to the financial statements.

The analysis of the principal activities of the operations of the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) during the 
financial year are set out in note 14 to the financial statements.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The profit of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2009 and the state of the Company’s and the Group’s affairs as at 
that date are set out in the financial statements on pages 30 to 84.

TRANSFER TO RESERVES
Profit attributable to shareholders, before dividends, of HK$56,403,000 (2008: Loss of HK$138,678,000) have been 
transferred to reserves.  Other movements in reserves are set out in the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity.

The Directors of the Company do not recommend any final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2009 (2008: HK Nil).  
No interim dividend was paid for the year ended 31 December 2009 (2008: HK Nil).

CHARITABLE DONATIONS
During the year, no charitable contributions (2008: HK Nil) were made by the Group.

 
PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Movements in plant and equipment are set out in note 15 to the financial statements.

DIRECTORS' REPORT
for the year ended 31 December 2009
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SHARE CAPITAL
The Company did not issue any shares during the financial year.  

The Company has a share option scheme (the “2005 Scheme”) which was adopted on 27 April 2005 (“Adoption Date”) 
whereby the directors of the Company are authorised, at their discretion, to invite employees of the Group, including 
directors of any company in the Group, to take up options to subscribe for shares of the Company.  The purpose of the 
scheme is to provide an opportunity for employees of the Group to acquire an equity participation in the Company and 
to encourage them to work towards enhancing the value of the Company and its shares for the benefit of the Company 
and its shareholders as a whole.  Under the 2005 Scheme, the maximum number of shares that may be granted by the 
Directors shall not exceed 10% of the share capital of the Company in issue at the Adoption Date unless the Company 
obtains a fresh approval from its Shareholders.  The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all 
outstanding options and yet to be exercised under the 2005 Scheme and any other option scheme(s) of the Company shall 
not in aggregate exceed 30% of the shares in issue from time to time.  The subscription price of shares under the 2005 
Scheme shall not be less than the highest of: (i) the official closing price of the shares as stated in daily quotations sheet of 
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“The Stock Exchange”) on the Offer Date; (ii) the average of the official closing 
price of the shares as stated in daily quotations sheets of The Stock Exchange for the 5 business days immediately preceding 
the Offer Date; and (iii) the nominal value of a share. The Executive Share Option Scheme (the “1997 Scheme”) adopted by 
the Company on 11 June 1997 was terminated upon the 2005 Scheme becoming effective.

Throughout the financial year, no share option was granted and outstanding.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
During the year, the turnover attributable to the Group’s five largest customers combined was about 20% (2008: 16%) 
of the Group’s turnover and the largest customer, included therein accounted for approximately 6% (2008: 5%).  The 
percentage of purchases attributable to the Group’s five largest suppliers combined was about 35% (2008: 24%) and the 
largest supplier included therein accounted for approximately 26% (2008: 14%).

At no time during the year have the directors or any shareholders of the Company (which to the knowledge of the Directors 
own more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had any interest in these major customers and suppliers.

 
DIRECTORS
The Directors of the Company during the financial year were as follows:

 Executive Directors
 Mr. Kwek Leng Beng (Chairman and Managing Director)
 Mr. Kwek Leng Joo
 Mr. Gan Khai Choon 
 Mr. Lawrence Yip Wai Lam
	 Mr.	Vincent	Yeo	Wee	Eng	(Retired	on	22	April	2009)
 Mr. Kwek Leng Peck (Resigned on 22 April 2009)

 Non-executive Directors
 Mr. Chan Bernard Charnwut 
 Mr. Wong Hong Ren (Retired on 22 April 2009)

 Independent Non-executive Directors
 Dr. Lo Ka Shui
 Mr. Lee Jackson @ Li Chik Sin
 Mr. Teoh Teik Kee 

In accordance with Article 116 of the Articles of Association of the Company, one third of the present Directors will retire 
from office by rotation at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.
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Profile On Directors And Senior Management
Mr. Kwek Leng Beng, aged 69
Chairman and Managing Director

Mr. Kwek Leng Beng has been the Chairman and Managing Director of the Company since 1989. 

He is the Executive Chairman of the Hong Leong Group of Companies Singapore, and also Singapore-listed City Developments 
Limited.  He is also Chairman and Managing Director of Singapore-listed Hong Leong Finance Limited.  He is the Chairman 
of	London-listed	Millennium	&	Copthorne	Hotels	plc	and	Singapore-listed	Hong	Leong	Asia	Ltd.

Mr. Kwek’s achievements have also captured the attention of the academic institutions.  He was conferred Honorary 
Doctorate	of	Business	Administration	in	Hospitality	from	Johnson	&	Wales	University	(Rhode	Island,	US),	where	students	have	
an opportunity to pursue career education in business, hospitality, culinary arts or technology; and Honorary Doctorate from 
Oxford Brookes University (UK) whose citation traced how Mr. Kwek, who joined the family business in the early 1960s, had 
gone on to establish an international reputation for his leadership of the Hong Leong Group, as well as an active supporter 
of higher education in Singapore.

Mr. Kwek also serves as a Member of the INSEAD East Asia Council.  France-based INSEAD is one of the world’s leading and 
largest graduate business schools which brings together people, cultures and ideas from around the world.
 
Mr. Kwek is a Member of the Action Community of Entrepreneurship (ACE), which involves both the private and public 
sectors to create a more entrepreneurial environment in Singapore for small and medium enterprises.

Mr Kwek holds a law degree, LL.B. (London) and is also a fellow of The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and 
Administrators. 

Mr. Kwek Leng Beng is the brother of Mr. Kwek Leng Joo, brother-in-law of Mr. Gan Khai Choon, and father of Mr. Sherman 
Kwek Eik Tse. 

Mr. Kwek Leng Joo, aged 56
Executive Director

Mr. Kwek Leng Joo was appointed an Executive Director of the Company in 1989.  He is the Managing Director of Singapore-
listed City Developments Limited with extensive experience in property development and investment.  Within the Hong 
Leong Group, he holds directorships in most of the listed companies, including Singapore-listed Hong Leong Finance Limited 
and	London-listed	Millennium	&	Copthorne	Hotels	plc.		

An Honorary President of the Singapore Chinese Chamber of Commerce and Industry, Mr. Kwek contributes actively to the 
community through many public and civic appointments.

Mr. Kwek Leng Joo is the brother of Mr. Kwek Leng Beng, brother-in-law of Mr. Gan Khai Choon, and uncle of Mr. Sherman 
Kwek Eik Tse.

DIRECTORS' REPORT
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Profile On Directors And Senior Management (Cont’d)
Mr. Gan Khai Choon, aged 63
Executive Director

Mr. Gan Khai Choon was appointed an Executive Director of the Company in 1989.  On 22 April 2009, he was appointed 
as a member of the Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee of the Company. He is also Managing Director 
of Hong Leong International (Hong Kong) Limited.  Apart from being an Executive Director of the Company, Mr. Gan also 
holds a number of directorships in other members of the Group.  He is also a director of New York-listed China Yuchai 
International Limited.  He is also an independent non-executive Director of Safety Godown Company Limited, a company 
listed on The Stock Exchange and Chairman of its Audit Committee.  Mr. Gan was appointed Chairman of Singapore-
listed HL Global Enterprises Limited in September 2007.  He has more than 35 years of experience in banking, real estate 
investment and development.  He has been responsible for overseeing the development of the Grand Hyatt Taipei Hotel and 
other international projects for the Hong Leong Group of companies.  Mr. Gan has a Bachelor of Arts degree (Honours) in 
Economics from the University of Malaya.

Mr. Gan Khai Choon is the brother-in-law of Messrs. Kwek Leng Beng and Kwek Leng Joo, and uncle of Mr. Sherman Kwek 
Eik Tse.

Mr. Lawrence Yip Wai Lam, aged 54
Executive Director

Mr. Lawrence Yip was appointed an Executive Director of the Company in December 1998.  Apart from being an Executive 
Director of the Company, Mr Yip also holds a number of directorships in other members of the Group.  Mr. Yip is also a 
director	of	eMpire	Investments	Limited.		He	was	formerly	the	General	Manager	(Finance	&	Administration)	of	the	Company.		
He has over 10 years of experience in the Treasury Division of several banks.  Prior to joining the Group in April 1990, Mr. 
Yip held the position of Regional Treasurer with a bank in Singapore. 

Mr. Chan Bernard Charnwut, aged 45
Non-executive Director

Mr. Chan Bernard Charnwut has been a Director of the Company since 1989 and was appointed a member of the Audit 
Committee on 18 January 2000.  Previously an independent non-executive director of the Company, he was re-designated 
as a non-executive Director of the Company with effect from 30 September 2004.  In 2005, he was appointed a member of 
the Nomination Committee of the Company.  Mr Chan is a deputy to the National People’s Congress and a former member 
of both Hong Kong’s Executive and Legislative Councils.  A graduate of Pomona College in California, he is the President 
of Asia Insurance Co Ltd.  He sits on a number of bodies, including the Chairman of the Lingnan University, the Council for 
Sustainable Development, the Advisory Committee on Revitalisation of Historic Buildings, the Antiquities Advisory Board, 
the Hong Kong Council of Social Service and the deputy chairman of the Oxfam Hong Kong.  He is also the chairman of the 
Hong Kong-Thailand Business Council and an advisor to Bangkok Bank, Hong Kong Branch.

Mr. Chan is also an Executive Director and the President of Asia Financial Holdings Limited and an independent non-
executive Director of Yau Lee Holdings Limited, Chen Hsong Holdings Limited, Kingboard Laminates Holdings Ltd., China 
Resources Enterprise Ltd. and a non-executive Director of New Heritage Holdings Limited, all of which are public companies 
listed on The Stock Exchange.
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Profile On Directors And Senior Management (Cont’d)
* Dr. Lo Ka Shui, aged 63
Director

Dr. Lo Ka Shui was appointed to the Board of the Company in 1989.  In 2005, he was appointed Chairman of the Nomination 
Committee of the Company.  He graduated from McGill University with a Bachelor of Science Degree and from Cornell 
University with a Doctor of Medicine (M.D.) Degree.  He was certified in Internal Medicine and Cardiology.  He has more 
than 30 years’ experience in property and hotel development and investment both in Hong Kong and overseas.  Dr. Lo is the 
Chairman and Managing Director of Great Eagle Holdings Limited, the Non-executive Chairman of Eagle Asset Management 
(CP) Limited (Manager of the publicly listed Champion Real Estate Investment Trust).  He is also a non-executive Director 
of The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited and an Independent Non-executive Director of Shanghai 
Industrial Holdings Limited, Phoenix Satellite Television Holdings Limited, China Mobile Limited and some other publicly listed 
companies	in	Hong	Kong.		Dr.	Lo	is	a	Vice	President	of	The	Real	Estate	Developers	Association	of	Hong	Kong,	a	Trustee	of	
the Hong Kong Centre for Economic Research and a Board Member of the Hong Kong Airport Authority.  Dr. Lo has been 
appointed as the Chairman of The Chamber of Hong Kong Listed Companies with effect from 8 May 2009.

* Mr. Lee Jackson @ Li Chik Sin, aged 77
Director

Mr. Lee Jackson was appointed a non-executive Director and Chairman of the Audit Committee of the Company in December 
1998.  In 2005, he was appointed a member of the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee of the 
Company.  On 22 April 2009, he stepped down as the Chairman of the Audit Committee of the Company and remains as 
a member of the Audit Committee. He also sits on the Board of Hong Fok Corporation Limited and Hong Leong Finance 
Limited, all of which are Singapore-listed public companies.  He was formerly a partner of an international firm of Chartered 
Accountants and is a member of The Australian Institute of Chartered Accountants.

* Mr. Teoh Teik Kee, aged 50
Director

Mr. Teoh Teik Kee was appointed an independent non-executive Director and a member of the Audit Committee of the 
Company on 30 September 2004.  In 2005, he was appointed Chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member of 
the Nomination Committee of the Company.  On 22 April 2009, he was appointed Chairman of the Audit Committee of the 
Company.  Mr. Teoh is an executive director of ecoWise Holdings Limited, and an independent director of Luzhou Bio-Chem 
Technology Limited and Great Group Holdings Limited.  All are Singapore-listed public companies.

Mr. Teoh is a Chartered Accountant by training, and worked from 1986 to 1990 with KPMG Peat Marwick McLintock in 
London and with PricewaterhouseCoopers in Singapore.  Mr. Teoh has extensive experience in investment banking and 
corporate financial advisory services when he was with the DBS Bank Group.

Mr. Teoh graduated from Aston University, England with a B.Sc. (Hons) in Managerial and Administrative Studies.  He is a 
member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales.

* Independent non-executive director

The non-executive Directors are subject to the same terms of appointment as the other directors of the Company.  Fees 
payable to non-executive Directors are approved by the Board at the end of each financial year.

 

DIRECTORS' REPORT
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Profile On Directors And Senior Management (Cont’d)
Senior Management
Mr Sherman Kwek Eik Tse, aged 33
Chief Executive Officer 

Mr. Sherman Kwek Eik Tse was appointed as the Chief Executive Officer of the Company on 1 November 2008. 

In his most recent role before joining the Company, Mr. Kwek was the Chief Operating Officer of Thakral Corporation Ltd 
(“Thakral Corp”), listed on the Mainboard of the Stock Exchange of Singapore.  At Thakral Corp, he was responsible for 
running the day-to-day operations and assisting the Board of Directors in setting a strategic direction for the company. 
 
Before joining Thakral Corp, Mr. Kwek was a Director of RECAP Investments Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Real 
Estate Capital Asia Partners, LP., a real estate private equity fund.  He assisted the fund in completing deals in Korea and 
Thailand as well as sourcing for deals in China.  Prior to that, he spent several years in New York, starting out as a financial 
analyst in Telligent Capital, a technology venture capital firm, before progressing on to the Investment Banking Division of 
Credit Suisse First Boston.  Subsequently, he held a hotel management and property development role at the U.S. division of 
Millennium	&	Copthorne	Hotels	plc,	where	he	assisted	the	regional	president	in	overseeing	20	hotels	throughout	the	U.S.	as	
well as managing several condominium conversion projects.  

Mr. Kwek is currently also an Executive Director of HL Global Enterprises Limited, a company listed on the Mainboard of the 
Stock Exchange of Singapore.

Mr. Kwek has experience in the areas of finance, mergers and acquisitions, real estate, information technology and hotel 
management.  He graduated from Boston University with a Bachelor of Science in Business Administration, majoring in 
Finance and Marketing with a minor in Psychology.  

Mr. Sherman Kwek Eik Tse is the son of Mr. Kwek Leng Beng, the nephew of Messrs. Kwek Leng Joo and Gan Khai 
Choon.

Mr. Man Mang Wo, Derek, aged 54
Chief Financial Officer

Mr. Man Mang Wo, Derek joined the Group in 1996 and was appointed Chief Financial Officer of the Company with effect 
from 1 April 2004.  Mr. Man is a member of the Certified General Accountants Association of Canada, a fellow member 
of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified 
Public Accountants and The Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales.  He also holds a Bachelor of Business 
Administration honours degree from a UK university and a Master of Professional Accounting degree from The Hong Kong 
Polytechnic University.  He has over 25 years of experience in the accounting and finance field.
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Directors’ And Chief Executive’s  Interests In Shares

(a)  As at 31 December 2009, the interests of the Directors and Chief Executive Officer of the Company in the shares 
and	underlying	shares	of	the	Company	or	any	of	its	associated	corporations	(within	the	meaning	of	Part	XV	of	the	
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)) as recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of 
the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities 
Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies (the “Model Code”), were as follows:

 The Company 
   Number of
  Nature of Ordinary Shares
 Name of Director Interest of HK$1.00 each

 Kwek Leng Beng personal 3,286,980
 Kwek Leng Joo personal 1,436,000
 Gan Khai Choon personal 1,041,100
 Lawrence Yip Wai Lam personal 520,550
 Chan Bernard Charnwut personal 53,850

 City Developments Limited

  Nature of Number of 
 Name of Director Interest Ordinary Shares

 Kwek Leng Beng personal 397,226
 Kwek Leng Joo personal 65,461
 Gan Khai Choon personal 100,000
  family 25,000
 
  Nature of  Number of 
 Name of Director Interest Preference Shares

 Kwek Leng Beng personal 144,445
 Kwek Leng Joo personal 100,000
 Gan Khai Choon personal 49,925
  family 25,738
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Directors’ And Chief Executive’s  Interests In Shares (Cont’d)
 Hong Leong Investment Holdings Pte. Ltd.
 
  Nature of Number of 
 Name of Director Interest Ordinary Shares

 Kwek Leng Beng personal 2,320
 Kwek Leng Joo personal 1,290
 Gan Khai Choon family 247

 Name of Chief Executive Officer

 Sherman Kwek Eik Tse personal 1,174

 Millennium & Copthorne Hotels plc
   Number of 
  Nature of Ordinary Shares
 Name of Director Interest of 30 pence each

 Lawrence Yip Wai Lam personal 9,622

 Millennium & Copthorne Hotels New Zealand Limited
 
  Nature of Number of 
 Name of Director Interest Ordinary Shares

 Kwek Leng Beng personal 3,000,000

	 Note:	 	Millennium	&	Copthorne	Hotels	New	Zealand	 Limited	 is	 an	 indirect	 subsidiary	of	Millennium	&	Copthorne	Hotels	plc,	
a subsidiary of City Developments Limited.  City Developments Limited is the holding company of the Company.  The 
Directors of the Company consider Hong Leong Investment Holdings Pte. Ltd. to be the Company’s ultimate holding 
company.

(b)	 	Pursuant	 to	Millennium	&	Copthorne	Hotels	 Long	Term	 Incentive	 Plan	 (the	“LTIP”)	 approved	by	 shareholders	of	
Millennium	&	Copthorne	Hotels	plc	(“M&C”)	on	4	May	2006,	certain	Directors	were	awarded	Performance	Share	
Awards of ordinary shares of 30 pence each as follows:

Name of Director Date Awarded

Number of 
Performance 

Shares Vesting Date

Lawrence Yip Wai Lam 27/03/2007 5,698 27/03/2010

25/06/2008 15,877 25/06/2011

30/03/2009 42,322 30/03/2012
 
	 Note:	 	Under	the	terms	of	the	LTIP,	M&C	is	permitted	to	make	both	Performance	Share	Awards	and	Deferred	Share	Bonus	Awards	

to	an	employee	(including	an	executive	director)	of	M&C	or	its	subsidiaries.		

(c)  Save as disclosed herein, as at 31 December 2009, none of the Directors and the Chief Executive Officer of the 
Company or their associates were interested or had any short position in any shares, underlying shares or debentures 
of the Company or any of its associated corporations that was required to be recorded under Section 352 of the SFO, 
or as otherwise notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS
As at 31 December 2009, the following persons were interested in 5% or more of the issued share capital of the Company 
as recorded in the register required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO:

  Number of  Percentage Holding
Name of Shareholder Shares Held Notes in the Company

eMpire Investments Limited 190,523,819  49.82%
City Developments Limited 200,854,743 (1) 52.52%
Hong Leong Holdings Limited   21,356,085    5.58%
Hong Leong Investment Holdings Pte. Ltd. 230,866,817 (2) 60.37%
Davos Investment Holdings Private Limited 230,866,817 (3) 60.37%
Kwek Leng Kee 230,866,817 (4) 60.37%
Arnhold and S Bleichroeder Advisors, LLC   38,022,000    9.94%
Farallon Capital Offshore Investors, Inc.   35,232,850 (5)   9.21%
Aberdeen Asset Management Asia Ltd.   23,052,000    6.03%
Aberdeen Asset Management Plc and its   23,052,000 (6)   6.03%
      Associates (together “The AAM Group”) on 
      behalf of accounts managed by The AAM Group
Noonday G.P. (U.S.), L.L.C.   22,321,306    5.84%

Notes:

1  Of the 200,854,743 shares beneficially owned by wholly-owned subsidiaries of City Developments Limited (“CDL”) 
representing approximately 52.52% of the issued share capital of the Company, 190,523,819 shares are held by 
eMpire Investments Limited.

2  The interests of CDL and Hong Leong Holdings Limited in 200,854,743 shares and 21,356,085 shares respectively, 
are included in the aggregate number of shares disclosed.

3  The deemed interest of Hong Leong Investment Holdings Pte. Ltd. in 230,866,817 shares, representing approximately 
60.37% of the issued share capital of the Company, is included in the aggregate number of shares disclosed.

4  Mr. Kwek Leng Kee is deemed to have an interest in the 230,866,817 shares in which Davos Investment Holdings 
Private Limited (“Davos”) is deemed to have an interest in, by virtue of his entitlement to exercise or control the 
exercise of one-third or more of the voting power at general meetings of Davos.

5  Farallon Capital Offshore Investors, Inc is interested in these shares in its capacity as the beneficial owner.

6  Aberdeen Asset Management Plc is interested in these shares in its capacity as the investment manager and includes 
shares in which wholly owned controlled corporations of Aberdeen Asset Management Plc are interested.

Save as stated above, no person was interested in or had a short position in the shares or underlying shares of the Company 
as recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO as at 31 December 2009.

DIRECTORS' REPORT
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Directors’ Interests In Contracts
No contracts of significance to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries, fellow subsidiaries or holding companies was a party, 
and in which a Director of the Company had a material interest, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

Arrangements To Acquire Shares
Save as disclosed herein, at no time during the year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries, fellow subsidiaries or holding 
companies a party to any arrangements to enable any Director of the Company to acquire benefits by means of acquisition 
of shares in or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate.

Controlling Shareholders’ Interest
Save as disclosed herein, apart from transactions carried out in the normal course of business, there were no contracts 
of significance between the Company or any of its subsidiaries and a controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries or 
any contracts of any significance for the provision of services to the Company or any of its subsidiaries by a controlling 
shareholder or any of its subsidiaries.

Connected Transactions 
Provision of Property Management Services

Property Management Services are provided by the Group to Owners of Hotels, being indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries of 
Millennium	&	Copthorne	Hotels	plc	(“M&C”).	M&C	is	a	subsidiary	of	City	Developments	Limited,	a	controlling	shareholder	
of the Company. Details of the transactions were set out in the press announcement dated 8 January 2007 as renewed by 
the press announcement dated 6 January 2010. The cap amount for Property Management Services is HK$5.0 million for 
each of the three financial years ending 31 December 2009.

The total revenue generated from the provision of Property Management Services for the year ended 31 December 2009 
amounted to HK$1.8 million (2008: HK$2.8 million).
 
The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the Property Management Services Transactions for the year under 
review and confirmed that the said transactions were conducted:

(i) in the ordinary and usual course of its business;

(ii)  on normal commercial terms or, if there are not sufficient comparable transactions to judge whether they are on normal 
commercial terms, on terms no less favourable to the Company than terms available from independent third parties; and

(iii)  in accordance with the management agreements.

The auditors have indicated in writing that based on the agreed-upon procedures:

(i)  The transactions have been approved by the Directors;

(ii)  Management has confirmed that they consider the transactions have been entered into in accordance with the terms 
of the Management Agreements; 

(iii)  Where there are signed agreements or written acknowledgements, the auditors have obtained, on a sample basis, 
signed agreements/written acknowledgements of the service and related fee charges; and

(iv)  The total revenue received by the Group in relation to the Property Management Services transactions for the 
relevant financial year has not exceeded HK$5.0 million.

As the above procedures do not constitute either an audit or a review made in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on 
Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, the auditors did not express any assurance on 
the connected transactions for the year ended 31 December 2009.
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Connected Transactions (Cont’d)
Other Related Party Transactions
Other related party transactions are set out in note 26 to the financial statements, which either fall under the definition of 
“Continuing Connected Transactions” in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and are exempted under the Listing Rules or does 
not fall into the definition of “connected transaction” or “continuing connected transaction”.

Service Contracts Of Directors
None of the Directors has a service contract with the Company or its subsidiaries.

Pre-Emptive Rights
Under present Cayman Islands laws and the Articles of Association of the Company, no pre-emptive rights are imposed 
which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

 
Purchase, Sale Or Redemption Of The Company’s Listed Securities
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during 
the year.

Sufficiency Of Public Float
Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of its directors, the Directors 
confirm that the Company has maintained the amount of public float as required under the Listing Rules during the year. 

Employee Retirement Benefits
Details of the Group’s employee retirement benefits are shown in note 28 to the financial statements.

Confirmation Of Independence
The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive directors an annual confirmation of independence 
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers all the independent non-executive directors to be independent.

Auditors
KPMG LLP retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment.  A resolution for the re-appointment of KPMG LLP 
as auditors of the Company is to be proposed at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

On behalf of the Board

KWEK LENG BENG
Chairman

23 February 2010
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE
SHAREHOLDERS OF City e-Solutions Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of City e-Solutions Limited (the “Company”) set out on pages 30 to 
84, which comprise the consolidated and Company balance sheets as at 31 December 2009, and the consolidated income 
statement, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and 
the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other 
explanatory notes.

Directors’ Responsibility For The Financial Statements
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and the true and fair presentation of these financial 
statements in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified 
Public Accountants and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.  This responsibility includes designing, implementing and 
maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and the true and fair presentation of financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and 
making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.  This report is made solely to 
you, as a body, in accordance with section 141 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for no other purpose.  We do 
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of the report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing.  Those standards require that we comply 
with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance as to whether the financial 
statements are free from material misstatement.  

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements.  The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.  In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and true and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion 
on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.  An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

 
Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of 
the Group as at 31 December 2009 and of the Group’s profit and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with 
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance with the Hong Kong Companies 
Ordinance.

KPMG LLP
Public Accountants and Certified Public Accountants
16 Raffles Quay #22-00
Hong Leong Building
Singapore 048581

23 February 2010
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 The Group 

Note 2009 2008

Re-presented

HK$’000  HK$'000 

Continuing operations

Turnover 3 65,270 75,539

Cost of sales (18,130) (13,623)

Gross profit 47,140 61,916

Other net income/(losses) 4 49,337 (106,976)

Administrative expenses (44,516) (43,534)

Profit/(Loss) from operations 51,961 (88,594)

Share of losses of an associate 18 (544) (1,065)

Profit/(Loss) before taxation 51,417 (89,659)

Income tax 6 (119) (6,014)

Profit/(Loss) from continuing operations 51,298 (95,673)

Discontinued operations

Profit/(Loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax 7 5,105 (43,005)

Profit/(Loss) for the year 5 56,403 (138,678)

Attributable to: 

Equity shareholders of the Company 10 55,865 (138,991)

Minority interests 538 313

Profit/(Loss) for the year 56,403 (138,678)

Earnings/(Losses) per share 13 HK cents HK cents

Basic earnings/(losses) per share 14.61 (36.32)

Continuing operations

Basic earnings/(losses) per share 13 13.28 (25.08)

The notes on pages 36 to 84 form part of these financial statements. 

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
for the year ended 31 December 2009
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The Group The Company
Note 2009 2008 2009 2008

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Non-current assets
Plant and equipment 15 2,472 7,612 1,853 3,251

Intangible assets 16 103 3,651 – –

Interests in subsidiaries 17 – – 220,859 220,859

Interest in an associate 18 – 30,039 – –

Deferred tax assets 19 12,814 12,940 – –

Total non-current assets 15,389 54,242 222,712 224,110

Current assets
Properties held for resale – 11,609 – –

Trading securities 20 95,340 59,856 89,140 53,956

Trade and other receivables 21 22,745 27,622 10,922 46,029

Current tax recoverable 6c 395 163 – –

Cash and cash equivalents 22 489,219 438,954 263,017 216,276
607,699 538,204 363,079 316,261

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 23 (20,127) (44,785) (10,941) (8,077)

Provision for taxation 6c (880) (2,439) (818) (1,584)
(21,007) (47,224) (11,759) (9,661)

Net current assets 586,692 490,980 351,320 306,600

Total assets less current liabilities 602,081 545,222 574,032 530,710

NET ASSETS 602,081 545,222 574,032 530,710

CAPITAL AND RESERVES 24

Share capital 382,450 382,450 382,450 382,450

Reserves 183,368 127,044 191,582 148,260

Total equity attributable to equity 
shareholders of the Company 565,818 509,494 574,032 530,710

Minority interests 36,263 35,728 – –

TOTAL EQUITY 602,081 545,222 574,032 530,710

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 23 February 2010.

  
 Kwek Leng Beng Gan Khai Choon
 Chairman Director

The notes on pages 36 to 84 form part of these financial statements. 

BALANCE SHEETS
as at 31 December 2009
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 The Group 
Note 2009 2008

 HK$'000  HK$'000 

Profit/(Loss) for the year 56,403 (138,678)

Other comprehensive income for the year (after taxation and 
reclassification adjustments): 11

Exchange differences on translation of:

- financial statements of foreign operations (155) (1,951)

- monetary items forming part of net investment in a foreign operation (11) (173)

Exchange differences realised on disposal of discontinued operations 7 (273) –

Exchange differences realised on disposal of an associate 18 895 –

456 (2,124)
Total comprehensive income for the year 56,859 (140,802)

Attributable to:
Equity shareholders of the Company 56,324 (140,870)

Minority interests 535 68
Total comprehensive income for the year 56,859 (140,802)

The notes on pages 36 to 84 form part of these financial statements. 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
for the year ended 31 December 2009
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Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

Capital
Share Redemption Exchange Revenue Minority Total

Capital  Reserve Reserve Reserves Total Interests Equity
Note HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Balance at 1 January 2008 383,126 - 2,493 276,935 662,554 35,660 698,214

Changes in equity for 2008:
Dividends approved in respect 

of the previous year 12 - - - (11,494) (11,494) - (11,494)

Purchase of own shares:

- par value paid (676) - - - (676) - (676)

- premium paid - - - (20) (20) - (20)

- transfer between reserves - 676 - (676) - - -

Total comprehensive income for 
the year - - (1,879) (138,991) (140,870) 68 (140,802)

Balance at 31 December 2008 
and 1 January 2009 382,450 676 614 125,754 509,494 35,728 545,222

Changes in equity for 2009:
Total comprehensive income for 

the year - - 459 55,865 56,324 535 56,859

Balance at 31 December 2009 382,450 676 1,073 181,619 565,818 36,263 602,081

The notes on pages 36 to 84 form part of these financial statements. 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
for the year ended 31 December 2009
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The Group
Note 2009 2008

 HK$’000  HK$’000 

Operating activities

Profit/(Loss) for the year 56,403 (138,678)

Income tax 6 119 7,510

Profit/(Loss) before income tax 56,522 (131,168)

Adjustments for:

Amortisation of intangible assets 5 253 62

Depreciation of plant and equipment 5 2,023 3,433

Dividend income 3 (10,286) (2,047)

Gain on disposal of discontinued operations 7 (5,663) –

Gain on disposal of plant and equipment 4 (216) –

Gain on disposal of an associate 18 (819) –

Share of losses of an associate 18 544 1,065

Impairment losses on:

- trade receivables 5 364 222

- intangible assets 5 – 37,302

- plant and equipment 5 – 902

Interest income (2,889) (14,387)

Net foreign exchange (gains)/losses (15,430) 59,314

Net realised and unrealised (gains)/losses on trading securities 4 (32,376) 47,589

(64,495) 133,455

Operating (loss)/profit before changes in working capital (7,973) 2,287

Changes in working capital

Properties held for resale 11,546 5,971

Trade and other receivables 9,096 693

Trade and other payables (8,080) (6,349)

Cash generated from operations 4,589 2,602

Interest received 3,009 14,559

Dividend received – 339

Dividends paid to shareholders – (11,494)

Tax paid – overseas tax (1,410) (21)

Net cash generated from operating activities 6,188 5,985

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
for the year ended 31 December 2009

The notes on pages 36 to 84 form part of these financial statements. 
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The Group
Note 2009 2008

 HK$’000  HK$’000 

Investing activities

Disposal of discontinued operations, net of cash disposed of 7 582 –

Loan to and investment in an associate – (21,793)

Payment for development costs (158) (1,698)

Payment for purchase of plant and equipment (181) (4,395)

Payment for purchase of trading securities – (1,603)

Proceeds from disposal of plant and equipment 701 –

Proceeds from disposal of an associate 18 30,991 –

Proceeds from sale of trading securities 79 90

Net cash generated from/(used in) investing activities 32,014 (29,399)

Financing activity

Payment for repurchase of shares – (696)

Net cash used in financing activity – (696)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 38,202 (24,110)

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 22 438,954 513,833

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 12,063 (50,769)

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 22 489,219 438,954

Significant non-cash transaction

During the financial year, the Group received scrip dividends of HK$836,000 (2008: HK$1,708,000) from one of its 

investments in equity securities.

The notes on pages 36 to 84 form part of these financial statements. 
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These notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

1. Significant Accounting Policies

 (a) Statement of Compliance

   These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial 
Reporting Standards (HKFRSs), which collective term includes all applicable individual Hong Kong Financial 
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (HKASs) and Interpretations issued by the Hong 
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (HKICPA), accounting principles generally accepted in Hong 
Kong and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.  These financial statements 
also comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The 
Stock Exchange.  A summary of the significant accounting policies adopted by the Group is set out below.

   The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs that are first effective or available for early adoption 
for the current accounting period of the Group and the Company.  Note 2 provides information on any 
changes in accounting policies resulting from initial application of these developments to the extent that 
they are relevant to the Group for the current and prior accounting periods reflected in these financial 
statements.

 (b)  Basis of Preparation of the Financial Statements

   The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2009 comprise the Company and its 
subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group”) and the Group’s interest in a jointly controlled entity and 
the Group’s interest in an associate.

 
   The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial statements is the historical cost basis except 

that the following assets and liabilities are stated at their fair value as explained in the accounting policies set 
out below:

  - financial instruments classified as trading securities (see note (f)); and

  - derivative financial instruments (see note (g)).

   The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRSs requires management to make judgements, 
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, 
income and expenses.  The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and 
various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form 
the basis of making the judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent 
from other sources.  Actual results may differ from these estimates.

 
   The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.  Revisions to accounting 

estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, 
or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

   Judgements made by management in the application of HKFRSs that have significant effect on the financial 
statements and major sources of estimation uncertainties are discussed in note 31.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2009
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1. Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d)
 (c) Subsidiaries and Minority Interests

   Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group.  Control exists when the Group has the power to govern the 
financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from their activities.  In assessing control, 
potential voting rights that presently are exercisable are taken into account.

   An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the consolidated financial statements from the date 
that control commences until the date that control ceases.  Intra-group balances and transactions and any 
unrealised profits arising from intra-group transactions are eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated 
financial statements. Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated in the same way 
as unrealised gains but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

   Minority interests represent the portion of the net assets of subsidiaries attributable to interests that are 
not owned by the Company, whether directly or indirectly through subsidiaries, and in respect of which the 
Group has not agreed any additional terms with the holders of those interests which would result in the 
Group as a whole having a contractual obligation in respect of those interests that meets the definition of a 
financial liability.  Minority interests are presented in the consolidated balance sheet within equity, separately 
from equity attributable to the equity shareholders of the Company. Minority interests in the results of the 
Group are presented on the face of the consolidated income statement and the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income as an allocation of the total profit or loss and total comprehensive income for the year 
between minority interests and the equity shareholders of the Company.

   Where losses applicable to the minority exceed the minority’s interest in the equity of a subsidiary, the excess, 
and any further losses applicable to the minority, are charged against the Group’s interest except to the extent 
that the minority has a binding obligation to, and is able to, make additional investment to cover the losses.  If 
the subsidiary subsequently reports profits, the Group’s interest is allocated all such profits until the minority’s 
share of losses previously absorbed by the Group has been recovered.

   In the Company’s balance sheet, an investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment losses (see 
note (k)). 

 (d) Associate 

   An associate is an entity in which the Group or Company has significant influence, but not control or joint 
control, over its management, including participation in the financial and operating policy decisions.

   An investment in an associate is accounted for in the consolidated financial statements under the equity 
method and is initially recorded at cost and adjusted thereafter for the post acquisition change in the Group’s 
share of the associate’s net assets.  The consolidated income statement includes the Group’s share of the 
post-acquisition, post-tax results of the associate for the year.

   When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in the associate, the Group’s interest is reduced to nil 
and recognition of further losses is discontinued except to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or 
constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.  For this purpose, the Group’s interest 
in the associate is the carrying amount of the investment under the equity method together with the Group’s 
long-term interests that in substance form part of the Group’s net investment in the associate.

   Unrealised profits and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and its associate is eliminated 
to the extent of the Group’s interest in the associate, except where unrealised losses provide evidence of an 
impairment of the asset transferred, in which case they are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

   In the Company’s balance sheet, its investment in an associate is stated at cost less impairment losses (see 
note (k)).
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1. Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d)
 (e) Jointly Controlled Entity

   A jointly controlled entity is an entity which operates under a contractual arrangement between the Group 
and other parties, where the contractual arrangement established that the Group or one or more of the other 
parties share joint control over the economic activity of the entity.

   The Group recognises its interest in jointly controlled entity using proportionate consolidation.  The Group 
combines its share of each of the assets, liabilities, income and expenses of the jointly controlled entity with 
similar items on a line by line basis.  Consistent accounting policies are applied for like transactions and events 
in similar circumstances.

 
   An investment in a jointly controlled entity is proportionately consolidated into the consolidated financial 

statements from the date that joint control commences until the date on which the Group ceases to have 
joint control over the jointly controlled entity.  Intra-group balances and transactions and any unrealised 
profits arising from intra-group transactions are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the jointly 
controlled entity in preparing the consolidated financial statements.  Unrealised losses resulting from intra-
group transactions are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains but only to the extent that there is no 
evidence of impairment.

 (f) Other Investments in Debt and Equity Securities

   The Group’s and the Company’s policies for investments in debt and equity securities, other than investments 
in subsidiaries, associate and jointly controlled entity are as follows:

   Investments in debt and equity securities are initially stated at cost, which is their transaction price unless 
fair value can be more reliably estimated using valuation techniques whose variables include only data from 
observable markets.  Cost includes attributable transaction costs, except where indicated otherwise below.  
These investments are subsequently accounted for as follows, depending on their classification:

   Investments in securities held for trading are classified as current assets.  Any attributable transaction costs 
are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.  At each balance sheet date the fair value is remeasured, with any 
resultant gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss.  The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss does 
not include any dividends or interest earned on these investments as these are recognised in accordance with 
the policies set out in note (s)(vi) and (vii).

 
   Investments in equity securities that do not have a quoted market price in an active market and whose fair 

value cannot be reliably measured are recognised in the balance sheet at cost less impairment losses (see note 
(k)).

   Investments are recognised/derecognised on the date the Group commits to purchase/sell the investments or 
they expire.

 (g) Derivative Financial Instruments 

   Derivative financial instruments are recognised initially at fair value.  At each balance sheet date the fair value 
is remeasured.  The gain or loss on remeasurement to fair value is charged immediately to profit or loss.

 (h) Plant and Equipment

   Plant and equipment are stated in the balance sheet at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment 
losses (see note (k)).

 
   Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an item of plant and equipment are determined as 

the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the item and are recognised in 
profit or loss on the date of retirement or disposal. 
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1. Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d)
 (h) Plant and Equipment (Cont’d)

   Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of plant and equipment, less their estimated residual 
value, if any, using the straight line method over their estimated useful lives as follows:

  Plant, machinery and equipment (comprising principally
  furniture and fixtures and office equipment)    - 6% to 33.33%

  Motor vehicles        - 20%

  Both the useful life of an asset and its residual value, if any, are reviewed annually.

 (i) Intangible Assets

   Intangible assets that are acquired by the Group are stated in the balance sheet at cost less accumulated 
amortisation (where the estimated useful life is finite) and impairment losses (see note (k)).  

   Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred.  Expenditure 
on development activities is capitalised if the product or process is technically and commercially feasible and 
the Group has sufficient resources and the intention to complete development.  The expenditure capitalised 
includes direct labour. Capitalised development costs are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and 
impairment losses (see note (k)).  Other development expenditure is recognised as an expense in the period 
in which it is incurred.

   Amortisation of intangible assets with finite useful lives is charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over 
the assets’ estimated useful lives.  The following intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortised from 
the date they are available for use and their estimated useful lives are as follows:

  -  Capitalised development costs 2 years

  -  Trademarks    15 years

  Both the period and method of amortisation are reviewed annually.
 
   Trademarks are not amortised while their useful lives are assessed to be indefinite.  Any conclusion that 

the useful life is indefinite is reviewed annually to determine whether events and circumstances continue 
to support the indefinite useful life assessment for that asset.  If they do not, the change in the useful life 
assessment from indefinite to finite is accounted for prospectively from the date of change and in accordance 
with the policy for amortisation of intangible assets with finite lives as set out above.

 (j) Leased Assets

   An arrangement, comprising a transaction or a series of transactions, is or contains a lease if the Group 
determines that the arrangement conveys a right to use a specific asset or assets for an agreed period of time 
in return for a payment or a series of payments.  Such a determination is made based on an evaluation of the 
substance of the arrangement and is regardless of whether the arrangement takes the legal form of a lease.

  (i) Classification of assets leased to the Group

    Assets that are held by the Group under leases which transfer to the Group substantially all the risks 
and rewards of ownership are classified as being held under finance leases.  Leases which do not 
transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the Group are classified as operating 
leases.
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1. Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d)
 (j) Leased Assets (Cont’d)

  (ii) Operating lease charges

    Where the Group has the use of assets held under operating leases, payments made under the leases 
are charged to profit or loss in equal instalments over the accounting periods covered by the lease 
term, except where an alternative basis is more representative of the pattern of benefits to be derived 
from the leased asset.  Lease incentives received are recognised in profit or loss as an integral part 
of the aggregate net lease payments made.  Contingent rentals are charged to profit or loss in the 
accounting period in which they are incurred. 

  (k) Impairment of Assets

  (i) Impairment of receivables

    Current and non-current receivables that are stated at cost or amortised cost are reviewed at each 
balance sheet date to determine whether there is objective evidence of impairment.  Objective 
evidence of impairment includes observable data that comes to the attention of the Group about one 
or more of the following loss events:

   - significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

   - a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal payments;

   -  it becoming probable that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; 
and

   -  significant changes in the technological, market, economic or legal environment that have an 
adverse effect on the debtor.

   If any such evidence exists, any impairment loss is determined and recognised as follows:

    For investment in associate recognised using the equity method (see note (d)), the impairment loss 
is measured by comparing the recoverable amount of the investment as a whole with its carrying 
amount in accordance with note (k)(ii).  The impairment loss is reversed if there has been a favourable 
change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount in accordance with note (k)(ii).

    For trade and other current receivables and other financial assets carried at amortised cost, the 
impairment loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present 
value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate 
(i.e. the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition of these assets), where the effect of 
discounting is material.  This assessment is made collectively where financial assets carried at amortised 
cost share similar risk characteristics, such as similar past due status, and have not been individually 
assessed as impaired.  Future cash flows for financial assets which are assessed for impairment 
collectively are based on historical loss experience for assets with credit risk characteristics similar to 
the collective group.

    If in a subsequent period the amount of an impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be linked 
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised, the impairment loss is 
reversed through profit or loss.  A reversal of an impairment loss shall not result in the asset’s carrying 
amount exceeding that which would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised 
in prior years.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2009

City E Solutions INSIDE 090310.indd   40 09/03/2010   9:04:28 PM



ANNUAL REPORT 2009  |  41

1. Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d)
 (k) Impairment of Assets (Cont’d)
  (i) Impairment of receivables (Cont’d)

    Impairment losses are written off against the corresponding assets directly, except for impairment 
losses recognised in respect of trade receivables included within trade and other receivables, whose 
recovery is considered doubtful but not remote.  In this case, the impairment losses for doubtful debts 
are recorded using an allowance account.  When the Group is satisfied that recovery is remote, the 
amount considered irrecoverable is written off against trade receivables directly and any amounts 
held in the allowance account relating to that debt are reversed.  Subsequent recoveries of amounts 
previously charged to the allowance account are reversed against the allowance account.  Other 
changes in allowances account and subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off directly 
are recognised in profit or loss.

  (ii) Impairment of other assets

    Internal and external sources of information are reviewed at each balance sheet date to identify 
indications that the following assets may be impaired, an impairment loss previously recognised no 
longer exists or may have decreased:

   - plant and equipment;
   - intangible assets; and
   - investments in subsidiaries, associate and jointly controlled entity.
  
    If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.  In addition, for intangible 

assets that have indefinite useful lives, the recoverable amount is estimated annually whether or not 
there is any indication of impairment.

   - Calculation of recoverable amount

     The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its net selling price and value in use.  
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present 
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of time value of 
money and the risks specific to the asset.  Where an asset does not generate cash inflows 
largely independent of those from other assets, the recoverable amount is determined for 
the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows independently (i.e. a cash-generating 
unit).

 
   - Recognition of impairment losses

     An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss whenever the carrying amount of an asset, 
or the cash-generating unit to which it belongs, exceeds its recoverable amount.  Impairment 
losses recognised in respect of cash-generating units are allocated first to reduce the carrying 
amount of any goodwill allocated to the cash-generating unit (or group of units) and then, to 
reduce the carrying amount of the others assets in the unit (or group of units) on a pro-rata 
basis, except that the carrying value of an asset will not be reduced below its individual fair 
value less costs to sell, or value in use, if determinable.

   - Reversal of impairment losses

     In respect of assets, an impairment loss is reversed if there has been a favourable change in the 
estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. 

     A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to the asset’s carrying amount that would have been 
determined had no impairment loss been recognised in prior years.  Reversals of impairment 
losses are credited to profit or loss in the year in which the reversals are recognised.
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1. Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d)
 (k) Impairment of Assets (Cont’d)

  (iii)  Interim financial reporting and impairment 

    Under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange, the Group is required to 
prepare an interim financial report in compliance with HKAS 34, Interim financial reporting, in respect 
of the first six months of the financial year.  At the end of the interim period, the Group applies the 
same impairment testing, recognition, and reversal criteria as it would at the end of the financial year 
(see notes (k)(i) and (ii)).

 
 (l) Properties Held for Resale

   Properties held for resale are those properties which are held with the intention of sale in the ordinary course 
of business.  They are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.  Net realisable value represents the 
estimated selling price less costs to be incurred for selling the property. 

  The cost of properties held for resale comprises acquisition costs and other related expenditure.

  (m) Trade and Other Receivables

   Trade and other receivables are initially recognised at fair value and thereafter stated at amortised cost less 
allowance for impairment of doubtful debts (see note (k)), except where the receivables are interest-free loans 
made to related parties without any fixed repayment terms or the effect of discounting would be immaterial.  
In such cases, the receivables are stated at cost less allowance for impairment of doubtful debts (see note 
(k)).

 (n) Trade and Other Payables

   Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value and are subsequently stated at amortised cost 
unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

 (o) Cash and Cash Equivalents

   Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand, demand deposits with banks and other 
financial institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into known 
amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within three 
months of maturity at acquisition.

 (p) Employee Benefits

  (i) Short-term employee benefits and contributions to defined contribution retirement plans

    Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions to defined contribution retirement plans 
and the cost of non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which the associated services are 
rendered by employees.  Where payment or settlement is deferred and the effect would be material, 
these amounts are stated at their present values.

  (ii) Termination benefits

    Termination benefits are recognised when, and only when, the Group demonstrably commits itself to 
terminate employment or to provide benefits as a result of voluntary redundancy by having a detailed 
formal plan which is without realistic possibility of withdrawal.
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1. Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d)
 (q) Liability for Unpaid Insurance Claims

   Liability for unpaid insurance claims are based on claims filed and estimates for claims incurred but not 
reported.

 (r) Income Tax

   Income tax for the year comprises current tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities.  Current 
tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised in profit or loss except to the extent 
that they relate to a business combination, or items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in 
equity, in which case the relevant amounts of tax are recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in 
equity respectively.

 
   Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, using tax rates 

enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of 
previous years.

   Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible and taxable temporary differences respectively, being 
the differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and 
their tax bases.  Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax losses and unused tax credits.

   Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the extent 
that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the asset can be utilised, are 
recognised.  Future taxable profits that may support the recognition of deferred tax assets arising from 
deductible temporary differences include those that will arise from the reversal of existing taxable temporary 
differences, provided those differences relate to the same taxation authority and the same taxable entity, 
and are expected to reverse either in the same period as the expected reversal of the deductible temporary 
difference or in periods into which a tax loss arising from the deferred tax asset can be carried back or 
forward.  The same criteria are adopted when determining whether existing taxable temporary differences 
support the recognition of deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and credits, that is, those 
differences are taken into account if they relate to the same taxation authority and the same taxable entity, 
and are expected to reverse in a period, or periods, in which the tax loss or credit can be utilised.

   The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities are those temporary differences 
arising from goodwill not deductible for tax purposes, the initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect 
neither accounting nor taxable profit (provided they are not part of a business combination), and temporary 
differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that, in the case of taxable differences, the 
Group controls the timing of the reversal and it is probable that the differences will not reverse in the 
foreseeable future, or in the case of deductible differences, unless it is probable that they will reverse in the 
future.

  
   The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement 

of the carrying amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the 
balance sheet date.  Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.

   The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at each balance sheet date and is reduced to the 
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow the related tax 
benefit to be utilised.  Any such reduction is reversed to the extent that it becomes probable that sufficient 
taxable profit will be available.

   Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of dividends are recognised when the liability to pay 
the related dividends is recognised. 

City E Solutions INSIDE 090310.indd   43 09/03/2010   9:04:29 PM



44  |  City e-Solutions Limited and its Subsidiaries

1. Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d)
 (r) Income Tax (Cont’d)

   Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and movements therein, are presented separately from each 
other and are not offset.  Current tax assets are offset against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax assets 
against deferred tax liabilities if, the Company or the Group has the legally enforceable right to set off current 
tax assets against current tax liabilities and the following additional conditions are met:

  -  in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the Company or the Group intends either to settle on 
a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously; or

  -  in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if they relate to income taxes levied by the same 
taxation authority on either:

   - the same taxable entity; or

   -  different taxable entities, which, in each future period in which significant amounts of deferred 
tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or recovered, intend to realise the current tax 
assets and settle the current tax liabilities on a net basis or realise and settle simultaneously.

 (s) Revenue Recognition

  Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable.

   Provided it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue and costs, if 
applicable, can be measured reliably, revenue is recognised in the profit or loss as follows:

  (i) Hotel management revenue

    Revenue arising from hotel management services, reservation distribution and payroll services is 
recognised when the relevant services are delivered.

  (ii) Insurance and risk management revenue

    Revenue arising from insurance and risk management services, where the Group acts as an agent and 
does not assume underwriting risk, is recognised based on the net amount retained or the amount 
billed to the customer less the amount paid to suppliers.

    For risk management services where the Company acts as an agent and does not assume any 
underwriting risk, revenue is recorded as the net amount earned as fees rather than the gross amount 
of insurance premiums and related costs.

  (iii) Course fees

    Tuition fees, course fees and related instruction costs are recognised over the period of instruction on 
a straight-line basis.

  (iv) Childcare and educational related fees

    Childcare and educational related fees are recognised on a straight-line basis over the period in which 
such services are rendered.
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1. Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d)
 (s) Revenue Recognition (Cont’d)

  (v) Franchise income

    Upfront franchise fee is recognised when performance of all the initial services and other obligations 
required of the franchisor has been substantially completed.

  (vi) Dividends

    Dividend income from unlisted investments is recognised when the shareholder’s right to receive 
payment is established.  Dividend income from listed investments is recognised when the share price 
of the investment goes ex-dividend.

  (vii) Interest income

   Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective interest method.

  (viii) Sale of properties

    Revenue arising from sale of properties held for sale is recognised upon the signing of the sale and 
purchase agreement or the issue of an occupation permit by the relevant government authorities, 
whichever is the later.  Deposits and instalments received on properties sold prior to the date of 
revenue recognition are included in the balance sheet under forward sales deposits and instalments 
received.

 (t) Translation of Foreign Currencies

  (i) Foreign currency transactions

    Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling on the 
transaction dates.  Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at 
the foreign exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet date.  Exchange gains and losses are recognised 
in profit or loss.

  (ii) Translation of foreign currencies

    Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency 
are translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates.  Non-monetary assets 
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at fair value are translated using the 
foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair value was determined.

    The results of foreign operations are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates 
approximating the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates of the transactions.  Balance sheet items, 
including goodwill arising on consolidation of foreign operations acquired on or after 1 January 2005, 
are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the closing foreign exchange rates at the balance sheet date.  
The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated 
separately in equity in exchange reserve.  Goodwill arising on consolidation of a foreign operation 
acquired before 1 January 2005 is translated at the foreign exchange rate that applied at the date of 
acquisition of the foreign operation.

    On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount of the exchange differences relating to 
that foreign operation is reclassified from equity to profit or loss when the profit or loss on disposal is 
recognised.
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1. Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d)
 (t) Translation of Foreign Currencies (Cont’d)

  (iii) Net investment in a foreign operation

    Exchange differences arising from monetary items that in substance form part of the Company’s net 
investment in a foreign operation are recognised in the Company’s income statement.  Such exchange 
differences are reclassified to equity in the consolidated financial statements.  When the foreign 
operation is disposed of, the cumulative amount in equity is transferred to the income statement as 
an adjustment to the profit or loss arising on disposal.

 (u) Discontinued Operations

   A discontinued operation is a component of the Group’s business, the operations and cash flows of which 
can be clearly distinguished from the rest of the Group and which represents a separate major line of business 
or geographical area of operations, or is part of a single co-ordinated plan to dispose of a separate major line 
of business or geographical area of operations, or is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale.

   Classification as a discontinued operation occurs upon disposal or when the operation meets the criteria to 
be classified as held for sale, if earlier. It also occurs if the operation is abandoned.

   Where an operation is classified as discontinued, a single amount is presented on the face of the income 
statement, which comprises:

  - the post-tax profit or loss of the discontinued operation; and

  -  the post-tax gain or loss realised on the measurement to fair value less costs to sell, or on the disposal, 
of the assets or disposal group(s) constituting the discontinued operation.

 (v) Related Parties

  For the purpose of these financial statements, a party is considered to be related to the Group if:

  (i)  the party has the ability, directly or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, to control the Group 
or exercise significant influence over the Group in making financial and operating policy decisions, or 
has joint control over the Group; 

  (ii) the Group and the party are subject to common control;

  (iii) the party is an associate of the Group or a joint venture in which the Group is a venturer;

  (iv)  the party is a member of key management personnel of the Group or the Group’s parent, or a close 
family member of such an individual, or is an entity under the control, joint control or significant 
influence of such individuals;  

  (v)  the party is a close family member of a party referred to in (i) or is an entity under the control, joint 
control or significant influence of such individuals; or

  (vi)  the party is a post-employment benefit plan which is for the benefit of employees of the Group or of 
any entity that is a related party of the Group. 

    Close family members of an individual are those family members who may be expected to influence, 
or be influenced by, that individual in their dealings with the entity.
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1. Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d)
 (w) Segment Reporting

   Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item reported in the financial statements, are identified 
from the financial information provided regularly to the Group’s most senior executive management for the 
purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the performance of, the Group’s various lines of business 
and geographical locations.

   Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the 
segments have similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature of products and 
services, the nature of production processes, the type or class of customers, the methods used to distribute 
the products or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory environment.  Operating segments 
which are not individually material may be aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.

2. Changes In Accounting Polices

  The HKICPA has issued one new HKFRS, a number of amendments to HKFRSs and new Interpretations that are first 
effective for the current accounting period of the Group and the Company.  Of these, the following developments 
are relevant to the Group’s financial statements:

 - HKFRS 8, Operating segments

 - HKAS 1 (revised 2007), Presentation of financial statements

 - Improvements to HKFRSs (2008)

 -  Amendments to HKFRS 7, Financial instruments: Disclosures - improving disclosures about financial 
instruments

 -  Amendments to HKAS 27, Consolidated and separate financial statements – cost of an investment in a 
subsidiary, jointly controlled entity or associate

 - HKAS 23 (revised 2007), Borrowing costs
 
  The amendments to HKAS 23 and HKAS 27 have no material impact on the Group’s financial statements as the 

amendments were consistent with policies already adopted by the Group. In addition, the amendments to HKFRS 7 
do not contain any additional disclosure requirement specifically applicable to the final results announcement. The 
impact of the remainder of these developments on the final results announcement is as follows:

  HKFRS 8 requires segment disclosure to be based on the way that the Group’s chief operating decision maker regards 
and manages the Group, with the amounts reported for each reportable segment being the measures reported to 
the Group’s chief operating decision maker for the purposes of assessing segment performance and making decisions 
about operating matters. The adoption of HKFRS 8 has resulted in the presentation of segment information in a 
manner that is more consistent with internal reporting provided to the Group’s most senior executive management. 
Corresponding amounts have been provided on a basis consistent with the revised segment information.

  As a result of the adoption of HKAS 1 (revised 2007), details of changes in equity during the year arising from 
transactions with equity shareholders in their capacity as such have been presented separately from all other income 
and expenses in a revised consolidated statement of changes in equity.  All other items of income and expense 
are presented in the consolidated income statement, if they are recognised as part of profit or loss for the year, 
or otherwise in a new primary statement, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.  Corresponding 
amounts have been restated to conform to the new presentation.  This change in presentation has no effect on 
reported profit or loss, total income and expense or net assets for any period presented. 
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2. Changes In Accounting Polices (Cont’d) 

  As a result of the adoption of the amendments to HKFRS 7, the financial statements include expanded disclosures 
in note 25(f) about the fair value measurement of the Group’s financial instruments, categorising these fair value 
measurements into a three-level fair value hierarchy according to the extent to which they are based on observable 
market data.  The Group has taken advantage of the transitional provisions set out in the amendments to HKFRS 
7, under which comparative information for the newly required disclosures about the fair value measurements of 
financial instruments has not been provided.

  The amendments to HKAS 27 have removed the requirement that dividends out of pre-acquisition profits should 
be recognised as a reduction in the carrying amount of the investment in the investee, rather than as income.  As a 
result, as from 1 January 2009, all dividends receivable from subsidiaries, associates and jointly controlled entities, 
whether out of pre- or post-acquisition profits, will be recognised in profit or loss and the carrying amount of the 
investment in the investeee will not be reduced unless the carrying amount is assessed to be impaired as a result of 
the investee declaring the dividend.  In such cases, in addition to recognising dividend income in profit or loss, the 
Group would recognise an impairment loss.  In accordance with the transitional provisions in the amendment, this 
new policy will be applied prospectively to any dividends receivable in the current or future periods and previous 
periods have not been restated.

3. Turnover

  The principal activities of the Group comprise those of investment holding and the provision of consultancy services.  
Turnover of the Group comprises revenue from hospitality related services, provision of education and learning related 
services, dividend income and interest income.  The amount of each significant category of revenue recognised in 
turnover during the year is as follows:

The Group
2009 2008

HK$’000 HK$’000

Continuing operations
Investment holding 10,286 2,047
Hospitality related services 39,553 49,364
Property investment 12,547 9,851

62,386 61,262
Interest income 2,884 14,277

65,270 75,539

Discontinued operations
Education related services 7,842 46,940

73,112 122,479

Included in turnover (continuing operations) above is: 
The Group

2009 2008
HK$’000 HK$’000 

Dividend income:
- listed securities 836 2,047
- unlisted securities 9,450 –

10,286 2,047
Interest income:
- cash deposits 2,884 14,277

 Further details regarding the Group’s principal activities are disclosed in note 17 to these financial statements.
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4. Other Net Income/(Losses)

The Group
2009 2008

HK$’000 HK$’000 

Net realised and unrealised gains/(losses) on trading securities 32,376 (47,589)

Net realised and unrealised foreign exchange gains/(losses) 15,452 (58,959)

Gain on disposal of an associate 819 –

Gain on disposal of plant and equipment 216 –

Others 474 (428)

49,337 (106,976)

5. Profit/(Loss) for The Year

 Profit/(Loss) for the year is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

The Group
2009 2008

HK$’000 HK$’000 
Staff costs

Contributions to defined contribution retirement plan 365 2,164

Salaries, wages and other benefits 32,060 46,694

32,425 48,858

Other items

Amortisation of intangible assets 253 62

Auditors' remuneration

- audit services 1,030 1,411

- tax services 120 25

- other services 663 746

Depreciation of plant and equipment 2,023 3,433

Gain on disposal of discontinued operations (5,663) –

Gain on disposal of an associate (819) –

Gain on disposal of plant and equipment (216) –

Impairment losses on 

-  trade receivables 364 222

-  plant and equipment – 902

-  intangible assets – 37,302

Operating lease charges 2,708 7,077
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6.  Income Tax 
  
 (a)  Taxation in the consolidated income statement represents:

The Group
2009 2008

 HK$’000  HK$’000 

Current tax - Overseas
 Provision for the year 173 741
 (Over)/Under-provision in respect of prior years (179) 1,506

(6) 2,247

Deferred tax
- Origination and reversal of temporary differences (1,089) 47
- Utilisation of deferred tax assets previously recognised 1,214 2,895
- Reduction in tax rate – 825

125 3,767
Income tax expense from continuing operations 119 6,014
Income tax expense from discontinued operations – 1,496

119 7,510

   The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for 2009 is calculated at the rate of 16.5% (2008: 16.5%) of the 
estimated assessable profits for the year.  Taxation for overseas subsidiaries has been provided on estimated 
assessable profits at the rates of taxation ruling in the relevant countries.

   The Company is exempted from taxation in the Cayman Islands for a period of twenty years from 1989 under 
the provisions of Section 6 of the Tax Concessions Law (Revised) of the Cayman Islands.  The tax concession 
was renewed for a further period of twenty years from 2 June 2009.

 (b)  Reconciliation between tax expense and accounting profit/(loss) at applicable tax rates:

2009 2008

 HK$’000  HK$’000 

Profit/(Loss) for the year 56,403 (138,678)

Income tax 119 7,510

Profit/(Loss) before income tax  56,522 (131,168)

Income tax using Hong Kong tax rates 9,326 (21,643)

Tax effect of non-taxable income (11,177) (2,627)

Tax effect of non-deductible expenses 1,511 23,476

Effect of tax rates in foreign jurisdictions 766 2,568

Effect of reduction in tax rate – 825

Current year’s deferred tax assets not recognised 8 2,308

Reversal of deferred tax assets – 1,097

Tax incentives (136) –

(Over)/Under-provision in respect of prior years (179) 1,506

Actual tax expense 119 7,510

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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 (c)  Current taxation in the balance sheet represents: 

The Group The Company
2009 2008 2009 2008

HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000 

Provisional Overseas Tax paid 395 155 – –

Balance of provision relating to prior years

   - Overseas Tax – 8 – –

Current tax recoverable 395 163 – –

Provision for the year

   - Overseas Tax (71) (925) (9) (70)

Balance of provision relating to prior years

   - Overseas Tax (809) (1,514) (809) (1,514)

(880) (2,439) (818) (1,584)

7.  Discontinued Operations 

  On 13 March 2009, the Group entered into an agreement to dispose of its 50% shareholding interest in MindChamps 
Holdings Pte. Limited (“MindChamps”), a jointly controlled entity for a total consideration of S$3.5 million (about 
HK$19.0 million).  The disposal was completed on 23 March 2009.  Accordingly, the Group no longer proportionately 
consolidates the financial results of MindChamps from that date.  The comparative income statement has been re-
presented to show the results of the discontinued operations separately from those of the continuing operations.

  The total consideration of S$3.5 million (about HK$19.0 million) shall be settled by cash in the following manner:

 (a)  S$0.75 million (HK$3.84 million) paid on 23 March 2009; 
 (b)  S$0.25 million (HK$1.33 million) by 5 equal monthly instalments of S$0.05 million (HK$0.27 million) each 

payable on or before the 4th business day of each month, with the first instalment paid in May 2009; and
 (c) The remaining S$2.5 million (about HK$13.8 million) in March 2011.

  Pursuant to the agreement dated 13 March 2009, the Group had received a total of S$1.0 million (HK$5.17 million) 
during the year 2009.

  Following a settlement arrangement in December 2009, the remaining balance of S$2.5 million (about HK$13.8 
million), was received/will be received by the Group in the following manner:

 (a) US$0.05 million (about HK$0.39 million) was received in December 2009;
 (b) US$1.05 million (about HK$8.14 million) payable by 14 December 2010; and
 (c) The remaining of about HK$5.27 million payable by March 2011.

 The Group would record additional gains as and when the deferred consideration is received.

6.  Income Tax (Cont’d)
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7.  Discontinued Operations (Cont’d) 

 The results of the discontinued operations are set out below: 

Note 2009 2008
 HK$'000  HK$'000 

Turnover 7,842 46,940

Expenses (8,400) (88,449)

Loss before taxation (558) (41,509)

Income tax – (1,496)

Loss after taxation (558) (43,005)

Gain on disposal of discontinued operations 5,663 –

Profit/(Loss) from discontinued operations 5,105 (43,005)

Basic earnings/(losses) per share (cents) 13 1.33 (11.24)

Cash flows used in discontinued operations 
Operating activities (3,592) (4,650)

Investing activities 403 (5,573)

(3,189) (10,223)

The effect of the disposal on the assets and liabilities of the Group is as follows:  

2009
 HK$'000 

Non current assets (5,972)
Current assets (8,715)
Current liabilities 15,480
Net identifiable assets and liabilities 793
Gain on disposal of discontinued operations (5,663)
Realisation of exchange differences arising from the disposal of discontinued operations 273
Cash consideration received, satisfied in cash (net of expenses incurred) (1) (4,597)
Cash disposed of 4,015
Net cash flows (582)

(1) This represents the cash consideration received to-date of HK$5,561,000, net of expenses incurred of 
HK$964,000.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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7.  Discontinued Operations (Cont’d) 

 Details of the Group’s interest in the jointly controlled entity were as follows:

Name of Jointly Controlled 
Entity/

Principal Activities

Form of 
Business 
Structure

Place of 
Incorporation 
and Operation

Particulars 
of Issued 

and Paid Up 
Capital

Proportion of Ownership 
Interest

Group’s Effective Interest
(Held by Subsidiary)

2009
%

2008
%

MindChamps Holdings Pte. 
Limited
(Provision of education and 
learning related services)

Incorporated Singapore 15,000,000 
shares 

 – 50

Summary of financial information on jointly controlled entity – the Group’s effective interest:

2008
 HK$’000 

Non-current assets 6,679
Current assets 14,452
Current liabilities (21,131)
Net assets –

8. Directors’ Remuneration

Directors’ remuneration disclosed pursuant to section 161 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance is as follows:

Directors' fees

Salaries, 
allowances and 
benefits in kind

Retirement 
scheme 

contributions
2009
Total

 HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000 
Executive Directors 
Kwek Leng Beng 375 – – 375
Kwek Leng Joo 100 – – 100
Gan Khai Choon 100 – – 100
Lawrence Yip Wai Lam 50 113 – 163
Vincent	Yeo	Wee	Eng	(Retired	on	22	April	2009) 30 715 – 745
Kwek Leng Peck (Resigned on 22 April 2009) 30 – – 30

Non-Executive Directors 
Chan Bernard Charnwut 194 – – 194
Wong Hong Ren (Retired on 22 April 2009) 30 99 – 129

Independent 
Non-Executive Directors
Dr. Lo Ka Shui 100 – – 100
Lee Jackson @ Li Chik Sin 223 – – 223
Teoh Teik Kee 259 – – 259

1,491 927 – 2,418
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8. Directors’ Remuneration (Cont’d)

Directors'  fees

Salaries, 
allowances and 
benefits in kind

Retirement 
scheme 

contributions
2008
Total

 HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000 
Executive Directors 
Kwek Leng Beng 375 – – 375
Kwek Leng Joo 100 – – 100
Gan Khai Choon 100 – – 100
Lawrence Yip Wai Lam 50 113 – 163
Vincent	Yeo	Wee	Eng	 50 1,322 30 1,402
Kwek Leng Peck 100 – – 100

Non-Executive Directors 
Chan Bernard Charnwut 194 – – 194
Wong Hong Ren 100 465 – 565

Independent 
Non-Executive Directors
Dr. Lo Ka Shui 100 – – 100
Lee Jackson @ Li Chik Sin 288 – – 288
Teoh Teik Kee 194 – – 194

1,651 1,900 30 3,581
 

9.  Individuals With Highest Emoluments

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, three (2008: three) are directors whose emoluments are disclosed 
in note 8.  The aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the other two (2008: two) individuals are as follows:

The Group
2009 2008

 HK$’000  HK$’000 

Salaries and other emoluments 2,631 1,456

Discretionary bonuses 937 –

Retirement scheme contributions – 78

3,568 1,534

The emoluments of the two (2008: two) individuals with the highest emoluments are within the following 
band:

2009 2008
Number of 
individuals

Number of 
individuals

HK$Nil – HK$1,000,000 1 2

HK$1,000,001 – HK$2,000,000 – –

HK$2,000,001 – HK$3,000,000 1 –

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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10.  Profit/(Loss) Attributable To Equity Shareholders Of The Company

 The consolidated profit/(loss) attributable to equity shareholders of the Company includes a profit of HK$43,322,000 
(2008: Loss of HK$138,439,000) which has been dealt with in the financial statements of the Company.

11.  Other Comprehensive Income

Tax effects relating to each component of other comprehensive income

The Group
2009 2008

Before tax 
amount

Tax 
(expenses)/

benefit
Net of tax 

amount
Before tax 

amount

Tax 
(expenses)/

benefit
Net of tax 

amount
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Exc hange differences 
on translation of 
financial statements 
of foreign operations (155) – (155) (1,951) – (1,951)

Exc hange differences 
on translation of 
monetary items 
forming part of 
net investment in a 
foreign operation (11) – (11) (173) – (173)

Exc hange differences 
realised on disposal 
of discontinued 
operations (273) – (273) – – –

Exc hange differences 
realised on disposal 
of an associate 895 – 895 – – –

456 – 456 (2,124) – (2,124)

12.  Dividends

Dividends attributable to the previous financial year, approved and paid during the year

The Group
2009 2008

 HK$’000  HK$’000 

Final dividend in respect of the previous financial year, approved and paid 
during the year, of HK Nil cents per share (2008: HK3 cents per share) – 11,494
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13.  Earnings/(Losses) Per Share

 (a) Basic earnings/(losses) per share

   The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the profit attributable to ordinary equity shareholders 
of the Company of HK$55,865,000 (2008: loss of HK$138,991,000) and on the weighted average of 
382,449,524 ordinary shares (2008: 382,692,688 shares) in issue during the year, calculated as follows:

  (i) Weighted average number of ordinary shares

The Group
2009 2008
’000  ’000 

Issued ordinary shares at 1 January 382,450 383,126

Effect of share repurchased  (see note 24(b)(ii)) – (433)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares at 31 December 382,450 382,693

    For the year ended 31 December 2009, earnings/(losses) per share for continuing and discontinued 
operations have been calculated using the profit relating to continuing operations of HK$50,760,000 
(2008: loss of HK$95,986,000) and the profit relating to discontinued operations of HK$5,105,000 
(2008: loss of HK$43,005,000).

 (b) Diluted earnings per share

   Diluted earnings per share is not applicable as there are no dilutive potential ordinary shares during the year. 

14.  Segment Reporting

  The Group manages its businesses by divisions, which are organised by products and services.  On first-time adoption 
of HKFRS8, Operating Segments and in a manner consistent with the way in which information is reported internally 
to the Group’s most senior executive management for the purposes of resource allocation and performance 
assessment, the Group has identified the following four reportable segments.

 - Investment holding :  This segment relates to investments in listed equity investments and unlisted 
marketable equitable equity mutual funds held as trading securities.  Currently, the 
Group’s equity investment portfolio includes equity securities listed on the London 
Stock Exchange and The Philippines Stock Exchange, Inc. and investment portfolio in 
United States and Hong Kong.

 
 - Hospitality related services :  This segment primarily derives the revenue from the provision of hotel management, 

hotel reservation, and revenue management services, risk management services and 
procurement services to the hospitality industry.  Currently, the Group’s activities in 
this regard are carried out in the United States.

 
 - Property investment :  This segment relates to investments in properties which are held with the intention 

of sale in the ordinary course of business.  The properties are located entirely in 
Singapore.

 
 - Education related services :  This segment derives revenue from the provision of education, childcare and learning 

related services.  The activities were carried out mainly in Singapore and Hong Kong 
through a jointly controlled entity which was disposed of by the Group in March 
2009.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2009
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14.  Segment Reporting (Cont’d)

 (a) Segment results, assets and liabilities 

   In accordance with HKFRS8, segment information disclosed in the financial statements has been prepared in 
a manner consistent with the information used by the Group’s most senior executive management for the 
purposes of assessing segment performance and allocating resources between segments.  In this regard, the 
Group’s most senior executive management monitors the results, assets and liabilities attributable to each 
reportable segment on the following bases:

   Segment assets include all tangible, intangible assets and current assets with the exception of interests 
in associates, deferred tax assets and current tax recoverable.  Segment liabilities include trade and other  
payables.

   Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable segments with reference to sales generated by those 
segments and the expenses incurred by those segments or which otherwise arise from the depreciation or 
amortisation of assets attributable to those segments.  Segment revenue and expenses include the Group’s 
share of revenue and expenses arising from the activities of the Group’s jointly controlled entity. 

   The measure used for reporting segment profit is “profit from operations”.  In addition to receiving segment 
information concerning profit from operations, management is provided with segment information concerning 
revenue, interest income, depreciation and amortisation, impairment losses, unrealised foreign exchange 
gain/loss, unrealised gain/loss on trading securities and additions to non-current segment assets used by the 
segments in their operations. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2009

Investment Holding
Hospitality Related 

Services
Property 

Investment
Total continuing 

operations
Education 

(Discontinued) Total 

2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue from external customers 10,286 2,047 39,553 49,364 12,547 9,851 62,386 61,262 7,837 46,830 70,223 108,092

Interest income 2,146 13,125 734 1,152 4 – 2,884 14,277 5 110 2,889 14,387

Reportable segment revenue 12,432 15,172 40,287 50,516 12,551 9,851 65,270 75,539 7,842 46,940 73,112 122,479

Reported segment profit/(loss) 49,612 (101,241) 1,619 9,154 730 3,493 51,961 (88,594) (558) (41,509) 51,403 (130,103)

Depreciation and amortisation 1,104 1,118 568 615 – – 1,672 1,733 604 1,762 2,276 3,495

Impairment losses on 

- plant and equipment – – – – – – – – – 902 – 902

- intangible assets – – – – – – – – – 37,302 – 37,302

Unrealised (gains)/losses on trading securities (30,549) 44,393 (1,771) 3,261 – – (32,320) 47,654 – – (32,320) 47,654

Unrealised foreign exchange (gains)/losses (15,430) 59,421 – – – – (15,430) 59,421 – (107) (15,430) 59,314

Additions to non-current assets segment 12 20 140 500 – – 152 520 187 5,573 339 6,093

Reportable segment assets 529,570 437,714 77,205 78,663 3,104 11,796 609,879 528,173 – 21,131 609,879 549,304

Reportable segment liabilities 6,423 6,533 13,644 17,478 60 32 20,127 24,043 – 20,742 20,127 44,785

14.  Segment Reporting (Cont’d)

 (b) Information about reportable segments

   Information regarding the Group’s reportable segments as provided to the Group’s most senior executive 
management for the purposes of assessing segment performance and allocating resources between segment 
for the years ended 31 December 2009 and 2008 is set out below:
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Investment Holding
Hospitality Related 

Services
Property 

Investment
Total continuing 

operations
Education 

(Discontinued) Total 

2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue from external customers 10,286 2,047 39,553 49,364 12,547 9,851 62,386 61,262 7,837 46,830 70,223 108,092

Interest income 2,146 13,125 734 1,152 4 – 2,884 14,277 5 110 2,889 14,387

Reportable segment revenue 12,432 15,172 40,287 50,516 12,551 9,851 65,270 75,539 7,842 46,940 73,112 122,479

Reported segment profit/(loss) 49,612 (101,241) 1,619 9,154 730 3,493 51,961 (88,594) (558) (41,509) 51,403 (130,103)

Depreciation and amortisation 1,104 1,118 568 615 – – 1,672 1,733 604 1,762 2,276 3,495

Impairment losses on 

- plant and equipment – – – – – – – – – 902 – 902

- intangible assets – – – – – – – – – 37,302 – 37,302

Unrealised (gains)/losses on trading securities (30,549) 44,393 (1,771) 3,261 – – (32,320) 47,654 – – (32,320) 47,654

Unrealised foreign exchange (gains)/losses (15,430) 59,421 – – – – (15,430) 59,421 – (107) (15,430) 59,314

Additions to non-current assets segment 12 20 140 500 – – 152 520 187 5,573 339 6,093

Reportable segment assets 529,570 437,714 77,205 78,663 3,104 11,796 609,879 528,173 – 21,131 609,879 549,304

Reportable segment liabilities 6,423 6,533 13,644 17,478 60 32 20,127 24,043 – 20,742 20,127 44,785
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14.  Segment Reporting (Cont’d)
 
 (c) Reconciliations of reportable segment profit or loss, assets and liabilities 

2009 2008
HK$’000 HK$’000

Profit 
Reportable segment profit/(loss) 51,403 (130,103)

Share of losses of an associate (544) (1,065)

Elimination of discontinued operations (Note 7) 558 41,509

Consolidated profit/(loss) before taxation from continuing operations 51,417 (89,659)

Assets
Reportable segment assets 609,879 549,304

Interest in an associate - 30,039

Deferred tax assets 12,814 12,940

Current tax recoverable 395 163

Consolidated total assets 623,088 592,446

Liabilities
Reportable segment liabilities 20,127 44,785

Provision for taxation 880 2,439

Consolidated total liabilities 21,007 47,224

 (d) Geographical segments

   The Group’s investing activities are mainly carried out in Hong Kong. The hospitality related services are 
carried out by the subsidiaries based in United States. 

   In presenting information on the basis of geographical segments, segment revenue in relation to investment 
holding is based on the geographical location of investments and segment revenue in relation to hospitality 
related services is based on the geographical location of customers. Segment assets are based on the 
geographical location of the assets.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2009
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14.  Segment Reporting (Cont’d)

 (e) Geographical information

  31 December 2009

Revenues
Non-current 

assets
HK$’000 HK$’000

Hong Kong 11,738 195

United States 41,511 722

Singapore 19,863 1,658

Education (discontinued) (7,842) –

65,270 2,575

   31 December 2008

Revenues
Non-current 

assets
HK$’000 HK$’000

Hong Kong 14,299 308

United States 50,326 1,333

Singapore 57,854 9,622

Education (discontinued) (46,940) –

75,539 11,263

 (f) Major customer

   Revenues from one customer of the Group’s hospitality related services segments represents approximately 
HK$3,929,000 (2008: HK$5,638,000) of the Group’s total revenues from continuing operations.
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15.  Plant And Equipment

 (a) The Group

Plant, 
Machinery and  

Equipment
 HK$’000 

Motor
Vehicles

 HK$’000 
Total

 HK$’000 
Cost 

At 1 January 2008 12,679 6,426 19,105

Exchange adjustments (153) – (153)

Additions 4,145 250 4,395

At 31 December 2008 16,671 6,676 23,347

At 1 January 2009 16,671 6,676 23,347

Exchange adjustments (237) (1) (238)

Additions 181 – 181

Disposals (3,947) (1,361) (5,308)

Disposal of interest in a jointly controlled entity (6,213) – (6,213)

At 31 December 2009 6,455 5,314 11,769

Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses 

At 1 January 2008 9,356 2,123 11,479

Exchange adjustments (79) – (79)

Depreciation for the year 2,304 1,129 3,433

Impairment losses during the year 902 – 902

At 31 December 2008 12,483 3,252 15,735

At 1 January 2009 12,483 3,252 15,735

Exchange adjustments (110) (1) (111)

Depreciation for the year 887 1,136 2,023

Disposals (3,921) (902) (4,823)

Disposal of interest in a jointly controlled entity (3,527) – (3,527)

At 31 December 2009 5,812 3,485 9,297

Net book value 
At 31 December 2009 643 1,829 2,472

At 31 December 2008 4,188 3,424 7,612

   In 2008, as a result of the loss incurred by the jointly controlled entity, the Group carried out an impairment 
assessment of the plant and equipment relating to the jointly controlled entity.  The recoverable amount 
of the plant and equipment was estimated based on their fair value less costs to sell.  Arising therefrom, 
an impairment loss of HK$902,000 was recognised and had been included in “loss from discontinued 
operations” in the consolidated income statement.

   The jointly controlled entity belonged to the “education-related services” segment of the Group which was 
disposed of in March 2009.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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City E Solutions INSIDE 090310.indd   62 09/03/2010   9:04:32 PM



ANNUAL REPORT 2009  |  63

15.  Plant And Equipment

 (b) The Company

Plant,
Machinery

and Equipment
Motor 

Vehicles Total
 HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000 

Cost 

At 1 January 2008 2,952 6,426 9,378

Additions 20 – 20

At 31 December 2008 2,972 6,426 9,398

At 1 January 2009 2,972 6,426 9,398

Additions 11 – 11

Disposals (16) (1,112) (1,128)

At 31 December 2009 2,967 5,314 8,281

Accumulated depreciation 

At 1 January 2008 2,906 2,123 5,029

Charge for the year 28 1,090 1,118

At 31 December 2008 2,934 3,213 6,147

At 1 January 2009 2,934 3,213 6,147

Charge for the year 15 1,089 1,104

Disposals (6) (817) (823)

At 31 December 2009 2,943 3,485 6,428

Net book value 
At 31 December 2009 24 1,829 1,853

At 31 December 2008 38 3,213 3,251
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16. Intangible Assets

The Group

Trademarks
Development 

Costs Total
 HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000 

 Cost 

 At 1 January 2008 39,849 – 39,849

 Exchange adjustments (107) (44) (151)

 Addition through internal development – 1,698 1,698

 At 31 December 2008 39,742 1,654 41,396

 At 1 January 2009 39,742 1,654 41,396

 Exchange adjustments (1,765) (77) (1,842)

 Addition through internal development – 158 158

 Disposal of interest in a jointly controlled entity (36,922) (1,735) (38,657)

 At 31 December 2009 1,055 – 1,055

 Accumulated amortisation and impairment losses 

 At 1 January 2008 817 – 817

 Exchange adjustments (436) – (436)

 Charge for the year 62 – 62

 Impairment loss 37,302 – 37,302

 At 31 December 2008 37,745 – 37,745

 At 1 January 2009 37,745 – 37,745

 Exchange adjustments (1,672) (3) (1,675)

 Charge for the year 66 187 253

 Disposal of interest in a jointly controlled entity (35,187) (184) (35,371)

 At 31 December 2009 952 – 952

 Net book value 
 At 31 December 2009 103 – 103

 At 31 December 2008 1,997 1,654 3,651

The amortisation charge for the Group’s trademark and the Group’s share of the jointly controlled entity’s development 
costs is included in “administration expenses” and “profit/(loss) from discontinued operations” in the consolidated 
financial statements respectively.

  As at 31 December 2008, the intangible assets included the Group’s share of the jointly controlled entity’s trademarks 
and development costs amounting to HK$3,473,000.  The trademarks, with a carrying value of HK$1,819,000 had 
indefinite useful lives and were not amortised.

  There was no contractual or other legal rights that restrict the use of the trademarks and the jointly controlled entity 
had the requisite resources to manage the trademarks efficiently.  The jointly controlled entity operates in an industry 
that was stable with regard to customer demand.  While there may be demand fluctuations in the short run, demand 
was consistent in the industry in the long run.
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16. Intangible Assets (Cont’d)

 Impairment test for trademarks with indefinite useful lives

  The management tests the trademarks for impairment annually, or more frequently if there were indications that the 
trademarks might be impaired.

  The recoverable amount of the trademarks was determined based on value-in-use calculations.  These calculations 
used cash flow projections covering a five-year period.

  Key assumptions used for value-in-use calculations:

2008
%

Average growth in revenue year-on-year (21)

Gross profit margin 60

Discount rate 8.7

  The growth in revenue and gross profit margin were based on past performance and management’s expectations 
of market development.  The discount rate used was pre-tax and reflects the specific risks relating to the jointly 
controlled entity. 

  Following the impairment test undertaken, an impairment loss of HK$37,302,000 was recognised and had been 
included in “loss from discontinued operations” in the consolidated income statement.  

  
17.  Interests In Subsidiaries

The Company
2009 2008

 HK$’000  HK$’000 
Unlisted shares, at cost :
 At beginning/end of the year 259,600 259,600

 Less: Impairment loss (38,741) (38,741)

220,859 220,859

In 2008, the Company assessed the recoverable amount of its investments in subsidiaries.  Based on the assessment, 
the Company recognised an impairment loss of HK$38,741,000 on its investment in a subsidiary.  The impairment 
loss was quantified under the value-in-use method using management’s estimates of the future underlying cash flows 
of the subsidiary and a discount rate of 8.7%.
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17.  Interests In Subsidiaries (Cont’d)

The following list contains only the particulars of subsidiaries which principally affected the results, assets or 
liabilities of the Group. The class of shares held is ordinary unless otherwise stated.

Proportion of Ownership Interest

Company Name/ 
Principal Activities

Place of 
Incorporation and 

Operation

Particulars of 
Issued and Paid 

Up Capital

Group’s 
Effective 
Interest 

Held by 
Company 

Held by 
Subsidiary 

% % %
Principal direct and 
indirect subsidiaries

SWAN Holdings 
Limited (Investment 
holding)

Bermuda 33,345,333 shares 
of US$1 each

85 85 –

SWAN USA, Inc. 
(Holding company)

United States of 
America

100 common stocks 
of US$0.01 each

85 – 100

Richfield Hospitality 
Inc. (Investment 
holding and provision 
of hospitality related 
services)

United States of 
America

100 common stocks 
of US$1,000.01 
each

85 – 100

Sceptre Hospitality 
Resources Inc. 
(Provision of 
reservation system 
services)

United States of 
America

100 common stocks 
of US$0.01 each

85 – 100

CDL Hotels 
(Singapore) Pte Ltd 
(Property investment)

Singapore 2 ordinary shares 
with no par value

100 100 –
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18.  Interest in an Associate

The Group
2009 2008

 HK$’000  HK$’000 

Unlisted shares, at cost – – *

Share of net liabilities – (3,653)

Loan to an associate – 33,692

– 30,039

* Less than HK$1,000.

In 2008, the loan to an associate was denominated in US dollars and was non-trade in nature, unsecured and 
interest-free.  The settlement of the amount was neither planned nor likely to occur in the foreseeable future.  As 
this amount was, in substance, a part of the Group’s net investment in the associate, it was stated at cost less 
accumulated impairment losses.

Details of the Group’s interest in an associate were as follows:

Proportion of 
Ownership Interest

Group’s Effective 
Interest 

(Held by Subsidiary)
Name of Associate/
Principal Activities

Form of 
Business 

Structure

Place of 
Incorporation 

and Operation

Particulars of 
Issued and Paid 

Up Capital
2009 2008

% %
Tune Hospitality Investments 
FZCO (To develop and own a 
portfolio of “no-frills” limited 
service hotels in ASEAN)

Incorporated Dubai/
ASEAN

5 shares of 
Dhs 100,000 

each

– 40

  During the year, the Group has completed the sale of its entire 40% equity interest in Tune Hospitality Investments 
FZCO (“Tune”) and shareholder loan to associate for a total consideration of US$4.0 million (about HK$31.0 million) 
which was received on 2 September 2009. Following the sale, the Group no longer equity accounts for the financial 
results of Tune from that date.  

 The effect of the disposal of equity interest in the associate are set out as follows:

2009
 HK$’000 

Net liabilities 4,404
Loan to an associate (33,681)
Gain on disposal of an associate (819)
Realisation of exchange differences arising from the disposal of an associate (895)
Cash consideration received, satisfies in cash (net of expenses incurred) (1) (30,991)

 (1)   This represents the cash consideration received to date of HK$31,003,000, net of expenses incurred of 
HK$12,000.
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18.  Interest in an Associate (Cont’d)

 The summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s associate is set out below:
 

Assets Liabilities Equity Revenue Loss
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

2009 *

100 per cent 125,870 (136,881) 11,011 557 (1,361)

Group’s effective interest 50,348 (54,752) 4,404 223 (544)

2008

100 per cent 127,481 (136,612) 9,131 752 (2,662)

Group’s effective interest 50,992 (54,645) 3,653 301 (1,065)
 
 *  This represents the Group’s share of the results of the associate up to 2 September 2009 following the disposal of 

its entire 40% equity interest in Tune. 

19. Deferred Tax Assets 
  
 (a) Deferred tax assets recognised:

 The Group

  The components of deferred tax assets recognised in the consolidated balance sheet and the movements 
during the year are as follows:

Tax losses

Deductible 
temporary 
differences

Investment 
allowances Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Deferred tax arising from:

At 1 January 2008 14,731 2,076 1,099 17,906

Charged to profit or loss (3,705) (62) (1,097) (4,864)

Exchange adjustments (86) (14) (2) (102)

At 31 December 2008 10,940 2,000 – 12,940

At 1 January 2009 10,940 2,000 – 12,940

(Charged)/Credited to profit or loss (1,214) 1,089 – (125)

Exchange adjustments 3 (4) – (1)

At 31 December 2009 9,729 3,085 – 12,814
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19. Deferred Tax Assets (Cont’d)

 (b)  Deferred tax assets not recognised:

  The following temporary differences have not been recognised:

The Group

2009 2008

 HK$’000  HK$’000 

Tax losses 3,995 3,945

Investment allowances – 3,336

3,995 7,281

    Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of these items because it is not probable that future 
taxable profits will be available against which the Group can utilise the benefits.  The tax losses do not expire 
under the respective countries’ tax legislations. 

20. Trading Securities  

The Group The Company
2009 2008 2009 2008

 HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000 

Equity securities (at market value)
- Listed outside Hong Kong

 -      fellow subsidiaries 52,402 28,324 52,402 28,324

Other securities (at market value)
- Unlisted 42,938 31,532 36,738 25,632

95,340 59,856 89,140 53,956

  Included in trading securities is an amount of HK$6,200,000 (2008: HK$5,900,000) relating to investment securities 
held in respect of the Group’s defined contribution plan (see note 28).
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21.  Trade And Other Receivables

The Group The Company
2009 2008 2009 2008

 HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000 

Trade receivables 7,380 15,792 – 52

Less

      Allowance for doubtful debts (note 21(b)) (636) (335) – –

6,744 15,457 – 52

Other receivables and deposits 12,292 5,889 9,646 900

Amounts owing by subsidiaries – – 81 44,450

Amounts owing by affiliated companies  1,177 782 898 337

Am ounts owing by other shareholder of jointly 
controlled entity  – 670 – –

Loans and receivables 20,213 22,798 10,625 45,739

Prepayments 2,532 4,824 297 290

22,745 27,622 10,922 46,029

All trade and other receivables are expected to be recovered within one year.  The amounts owing by subsidiaries, 
affiliated companies and other shareholder of jointly controlled entity are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on 
demand.

Affiliated companies comprise subsidiaries of the holding company.

 (a) Ageing analysis
 

 The ageing analysis of trade receivables (net of impairment losses) is as follows:

The Group The Company
2009 2008 2009 2008

 HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000 

Current or less than 1 month overdue 4,907 9,959 – 22

1 to 3 months overdue 1,576 5,111 – –

3 to 12 months overdue 261 387 – 30

6,744 15,457 – 52

   The Group’s credit policy is set out in note 25.  Trade receivables are due within 30 days from the date of 
billing. 
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21.  Trade And Other Receivables (Cont’d)

 (b) Impairment of trade receivables

   Impairment losses in respect of trade receivables are recorded using an allowance account unless the Group is 
satisfied that recovery of the amount is remote, in which case the impairment loss is written off against trade 
debtors directly.

  The movement in the allowance for doubtful debts during the year is as follows:

The Group The Company
2009 2008 2009 2008

 HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000 

At 1 January 335 219 – –

Impairment loss recognised 364 222 – –

Uncollected amounts written off – (101) – –

Disposal of investment in a jointly controlled entity (62) – – –

Exchange adjustments (1) (5) – –

At 31 December 636 335 – –

 (c) Trade receivables that are not impaired

   The ageing analysis of trade receivables that are neither individually nor collectively considered to be impaired 
are as follows:

The Group The Company
2009 2008 2009 2008

 HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000 

Neither past due nor impaired 4,601 9,832 – 22

Less than 1 month overdue – 127 – –

1 to 3 months overdue 1,426 5,111 – –

3 to 12 months overdue 261 – – –

1,687 5,238 – –

6,288 15,070 – 22

   Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to a wide range of customers for whom there was 
no recent history of default.

   Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to customers having a good track record with the 
Group.  Based on past experience, management believes that no impairment allowance is necessary in 
respect of these balances as there has not been a significant change in credit quality and the balances are still 
considered fully recoverable.  The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.
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22.  Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Group The Company
2009 2008 2009 2008

 HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000 

Deposits with banks and other financial institutions 331,749 399,967 127,852 204,486

Cash at bank and in hand 157,470 38,987 135,165 11,790

489,219 438,954 263,017 216,276

The weighted average effective interest rates per annum relating to cash and cash equivalents at the balance sheet 
date for the Group and the Company are 0.293% (2008: 1.26%) and 0.215% (2008: 1.44%) respectively. Interest 
rates re-priced within twelve months.

23.  Trade and Other Payables

The Group The Company
2009 2008 2009 2008

 HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000 

Trade payables 189 2,294 – –

Other payables and accrued charges 19,659 41,808 6,341 7,394

Amounts owing to affiliated companies 279 683 279 683

Amounts owing to subsidiary companies – – 4,321 –

20,127 44,785 10,941 8,077

  All of the trade and other payables are expected to be settled within one year.  The amounts owing to affiliated and 
subsidiary companies are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

  Included in trade and other payables are trade payables with the following ageing analysis as of the balance sheet 
date:

The Group The Company
2009 2008 2009 2008

 HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000 

Due within 1 month or on demand 13,668 44,075 10,207 7,533

Due 1 to 3 months 3,142 110 734 48

Due 3 to 12 months 3,317 600 – 496

20,127 44,785 10,941 8,077
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24. Capital and Reserves

 (a) Movements in components of equity

   The reconciliation between the opening and closing balances of each component of the Group’s consolidated 
equity is set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.  Details of the changes in the Company’s 
individual components of equity between the beginning and the end of the year are set out below:

Note
Share

Capital

Capital
Redemption

Reserve
Revenue
Reserve Total

The Company HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Balance at 1 January 2008 383,126 – 298,213 681,339

Changes in equity for 2008:
Dividends approved in respect of 

the previous financial year 12 – – (11,494) (11,494)

Purchase of own shares:

- par value paid (676) – – (676)

- premium paid – – (20) (20)

- transfer between reserves – 676 (676) –

Total comprehensive income for 
the year – – (138,439) (138,439)

Balance at 31 December 2008 
and 1 January 2009 382,450 676 147,584 530,710

Changes in equity for 2009:
Total comprehensive income for 

the year – – 43,322 43,322

Balance at 31 December 2009 382,450 676 190,906 574,032

 (b) Share capital

  (i) Authorised and issued share capital

The Company
2009 2008

No. of shares No. of shares
(’000) HK$’000 (’000) HK$’000

Authorised:

Ordinary shares of HK$1 each 2,720,615 2,720,615 2,720,615 2,720,615

Ordinary shares, issued and fully paid:

At 1 January 382,450 382,450 383,126 383,126

Shares repurchased – – (676) (676)

At 31 December 382,450 382,450 382,450 382,450

    The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and 
are entitled to one vote per share at meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares rank equally with 
regard to the Company’s residual assets.
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24. Capital and Reserves (Cont’d)
 (b) Share capital (Cont’d)

  (ii) Purchase of own shares

    Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s 
listed securities during the year ended 31 December 2009.

   In 2008, the Company purchased its own ordinary shares on The Stock Exchange as follows:

Month of
the repurchases

Total number of 
ordinary shares 

repurchased
Highest price 

paid per share
Lowest price 

paid per share
Aggregate price 

paid
’000 HK$ HK$ HK$’000

April 2008 440 1.02 1.01 446

May 2008 142 1.01 1.01 143

July 2008 94 1.10 1.10 103

676 692

    The repurchased shares were cancelled and accordingly the issued share capital of the Company was 
reduced by the nominal value of these shares. An amount equivalent to the par value of the cancelled 
shares of HK$676,000 was transferred from revenue reserve to the capital redemption reserve.  The 
premium paid on the repurchased shares and the transaction costs of HK$16,000 and HK$4,000 
respectively, were deducted from the revenue reserve.

  (iii) Share option scheme

    The Share Option Scheme (the “2005 Scheme”) for eligible persons, including employees (including 
the executive directors) and non-executive directors of the Company and its associates, was adopted 
by the Company on 27 April 2005 (“Adoption Date”).  Under the 2005 Scheme, the maximum 
number of shares that may be granted by the Directors shall not exceed 10% of the share capital of 
the Company in issue at the Adoption Date unless the Company obtains a fresh approval from its 
Shareholders.  The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding 
options and yet to be exercised under the 2005 Scheme and any other option scheme(s) of the 
Company shall not in aggregate exceed 30% of the shares in issue from time to time.  The subscription 
price of shares under the 2005 Scheme shall not be less than the highest of: (i) the official closing 
price of the shares as stated in daily quotations sheet of The Stock Exchange on the Offer Date; (ii) 
the average of the official closing price of the shares as stated in daily quotations sheets of The Stock 
Exchange for the 5 business days immediately preceding the Offer Date; and (iii) the nominal value of 
a share.  The Executive Share Option Scheme (the “1997 Scheme”) adopted by the Company on 11 
June 1997 was terminated upon the 2005 Scheme becoming effective.

   Throughout the financial year, no share option was granted and outstanding.

 (c) Nature and purpose of reserves

  (i) Capital redemption reserve

    Capital redemption reserve represents the nominal value of the shares repurchased which has been 
paid out of the distributable reserves of the Company. 
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24. Capital and Reserves (Cont’d)
 (c) Nature and purpose of reserves (Cont’d)

  (ii) Exchange reserve

    The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of the 
financial statements of foreign operations and exchange differences on monetary items which form 
part of the Group’s net investment in foreign operations, provided certain conditions are met.  The 
reserve is dealt with in accordance with the accounting policy set out in note 1(t).

 (d) Distributability of reserves

   At 31 December 2009, the aggregate amount of reserves available for distribution to equity shareholders of 
the Company was HK$190,906,000 (2008: HK$147,584,000).  

 (e) Capital management

   The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a 
going concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders, 
by pricing products and services commensurately with the level of risk and by securing access to finance at a 
reasonable cost.  

   The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital structure to maintain a balance between 
the higher shareholder returns that might be possible with the advantages and security afforded by a sound 
capital position, and makes adjustments to the capital structure in light of changes in economic conditions.

   The Group monitors its capital structure on the basis of net debt-to-adjusted capital ratio.  It is the Group’s 
strategy to keep the net debt-to-adjusted capital ratio as low as feasible.  In order to maintain or adjust the 
ratio, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, issue new shares, return capital 
to shareholders, raise new debt financing or sell assets to reduce debt.  As at 31 December 2009, the Group 
did not have any net debt. 

  Neither the Company nor its subsidiaries are subject to externally imposed capital requirements.

25.  Financial Risk Management and Fair Values

  Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency risks arises in the normal course of the Group’s business.  The 
Group is also exposed to equity price risk arising from its equity investments in other entities and movements in its 
own equity share price. 

  The Group’s exposure to these risks and the financial risk management policies and practices used by the Group to 
manage these risks are described below.

 (a) Credit risk 

   The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade and other receivables. Management has a credit policy 
in place and the exposures to these credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis.

   In respect of trade and other receivables, individual credit evaluations are performed on all customers requiring 
credit over a certain amount. These evaluations focus on the customer’s past history of making payments 
when due and current ability to pay, and take into account information specific to the customer as well as 
pertaining to the economic environment in which the customer operates.  Trade receivables are due within 1 
month from the date of billing.  Debtors with balances that are more than 3 months past due are requested 
to settle all outstanding balances before any further credit is granted.  Normally, the Group does not obtain 
collateral from customers. 
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25.  Financial Risk Management and Fair Values (Cont’d)
 (a) Credit risk (Cont’d)

   Investments are normally only in liquid securities and with counterparties that have a credit rating equal to or 
better than the Group.  Transactions involving derivative financial instruments are with counterparties with 
sound credit ratings and with whom the Group has a signed netting agreement.  Given their high credit 
ratings, management does not expect any investment counterparty to fail to meet its obligations.

   The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each customer.  
The default risk of the industry and country in which customers operate also has an influence on credit risk 
but to a lesser extent. At the balance sheet date, 2% (2008: 17%) and 6% (2008: 31%) of the total trade 
receivables was due from the Group’s largest customer and the five largest customers respectively within the 
hospitality business segment.

   The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of each financial asset, including 
derivative financial instruments, in the balance sheet after deducting any impairment allowance.

   Further quantitative disclosure in respect of the Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from trade receivables 
are set out in note 21.

 (b) Equity price risk

   The Group is exposed to equity price changes arising from equity investments classified as trading securities 
(see note 20).  

   The Group’s listed equity investments are listed on the London Stock Exchange and The Philippines Stock 
Exchange, Inc..  Decisions to buy or sell trading securities are based on daily monitoring of the performance 
of individual securities compared to other industry indicators, as well as the Group’s liquidity needs.  

   At 31 December 2009, a 5% increase in the underlying equity prices of the equity investments listed on the 
London Stock Exchange at the reporting date would increase the Group’s and the Company’s profit after 
tax and increase the Group’s and the Company’s revenue reserve by approximately HK$2,545,000.  At 31 
December 2008, a 5% increase in the underlying equity prices of the equity investments listed on the London 
Stock Exchange at the reporting date would decrease the Group’s and the Company’s loss after tax and 
increase the Group’s and the Company’s revenue reserve by approximately HK$1,386,000.  There is no impact 
on the other components of consolidated equity for both years.  The analysis assumes that all other variables 
remain constant. 

   A 5% decrease in the underlying equity prices of the equity investments listed on the London Stock Exchange 
at the reporting date, with all other variables held constant, would have an equal but opposite effect on the 
Group’s and the Company’s profit/ loss after tax and revenue reserve. 

   In respect of the Group’s equity investment listed on The Philippines Stock Exchange, Inc., based on the 
historical trend analysis, management does not expect significant equity price movements on this investment 
and hence, any significant impact on the Group’s and the Company’s profit after tax, revenue reserve and 
other components of consolidated equity,  assuming that all other variables remain constant.

   The Group also holds investments in unlisted marketable equity mutual funds.  Included in such investments 
is an amount of HK$6,200,000 (2008: HK$5,900,000) relating to investments held in respect of the Group’s 
defined contribution plan.  Any movement in the equity price would not have any impact on the Group’s 
profit after tax as there would be an equal and opposite change in the staff costs (note 5) in response 
to the changes in the equity price.  At 31 December 2009, a 5% increase in the net asset value of the 
remaining balance of the investments in unlisted marketable equity mutual funds at the reporting date would 
increase the Group’s and the Company’s profit after tax and increase the Group’s and the Company’s revenue 
reserve by approximately HK$1,837,000.  At 31 December 2008, a 5% increase in the net asset value of the 
remaining balance of the investments in unlisted marketable equity mutual funds at the reporting date would 
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decrease the Group’s and the Company’s loss after tax and increase the Group’s and the Company’s revenue 
reserve by approximately HK$1,282,000.  There is no impact on the other components of consolidated equity 
for both years.  The analysis assumes that all other variables remain constant.

   A 5% (2008: 5%) decrease in the net asset value of the remaining balance in unlisted marketable equity 
mutual funds at the reporting date, with all other variables held constant, would have had the equal but 
opposite effect on the Group’s and the Company’s profit/loss after tax and revenue reserve.

   The sensitivity analysis has been determined assuming that the reasonably possible changes in stock prices, 
net asset values or other risk variables had occurred at the balance sheet date and had been applied to 
the exposure to equity price risk in existence at that date.  The stated changes represent management’s 
assessment of reasonably possible changes in the relevant stock price, net asset value or the relevant risk 
variables over the period until the next annual balance sheet date.  The analysis is performed on the same 
basis for 2008.

 (c) Liquidity risk

   Individual operating entities within the Group are responsible for their own cash management, including the 
short term investment of cash surpluses.  The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity requirements, 
to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash and readily realisable marketable securities to meet its 
liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

   The total contractual undiscounted cash flows of the Group’s and the Company’s non-derivative financial 
liabilities are the same as their carrying amounts as their remaining contractual maturities are within one 
year.

 (d) Interest rate risk 

   The Group is affected by changes in interest rates to the extent such changes have on interest on its cash 
balances. 

   The weighted average effective interest rates per annum relating to cash and cash equivalents at the balance 
sheet date is set out in note 22.

  Sensitivity analysis
 
   In managing interest rate risk the Group aims to reduce the impact of short term fluctuations on the Group’s 

earnings.  Over the longer term, however, permanent changes in foreign exchange and interest rates would 
have an impact on consolidated earnings.

   At 31 December 2009, it is estimated that a general increase of one hundred basis points in interest rates 
on the Group’s and the Company’s cash balances would increase the Group’s and the Company’s profit 
after tax and increase the Group’s and the Company’s revenue reserve by approximately HK$3,316,000 and 
HK$1,276,000 so far as the effect on interest-bearing financial instruments is concerned.  At 31 December 
2008, it is estimated that a general increase of one hundred basis points in interest rates on the Group’s and 
the Company’s cash balances would decrease the Group’s and the Company’s loss after tax and increase the 
revenue reserve by approximately HK$4,338,000 and HK$2,125,000 so far as the effect on interest-bearing 
financial instruments is concerned.  There is no impact on the other components of consolidated equity for 
both years.  The analysis assumes that all other variables remain constant.

   A general decrease of one hundred basis points in interest rates of the Group’s and the Company’s cash 
balances, with all other variables held constant, would have had the equal but opposite effect on the Group’s 
and the Company’s profit/loss after tax and revenue reserve.

25.  Financial Risk Management and Fair Values (Cont’d)
 (b) Equity price risk (Cont’d)
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25.  Financial Risk Management and Fair Values (Cont’d)
 (d) Interest rate risk (Cont’d)

   The sensitivity analysis above has been determined assuming that the change in interest rates had occurred at 
the balance sheet date and had been applied to the exposure to interest rate risk for financial instruments in 
existence at that date.  The one hundred basis points increase (decrease) represents management’s assessment 
of a reasonably possible change in interest rates over the period until the next annual balance sheet date.  The 
analysis is performed on the same basis for 2008.

 (e) Currency risk

   The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk through deposits and withdrawals of fixed deposits, sales and 
purchases of the trading securities that are denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of 
the operations to which they relate.  The currencies giving rise to these risks are Sterling Pound, Singapore 
Dollar and Philippine Peso. 

   When necessary, the Group uses forward exchange contracts to hedge its specific currency risks.  However, 
forward exchange contracts that do not qualify for hedge accounting are accounted for as trading instruments.  
As at 31 December 2009, the Group had no outstanding forward exchange contracts.

  (i) Recognised assets and liabilities

    In respect of trade receivables and payables held in currencies other than the functional currency of 
the operations to which they relate, the Group ensures that the net exposure is kept to an acceptable 
level.

  (ii) Exposure to foreign currency risk

    The following table details the Group’s and the Company’s exposure at the balance sheet date to 
currency risk arising from recognised assets or liabilities denominated in a currency other than the 
functional currency of the entity to which they relate to.  

2009
Sterling
Pound

’000

Singapore
Dollar

’000

Philippine
Peso
’000

Euro
’000

The Group
Trading securities 4,114 – 9,032 –
Trade and other receivables – 28 – –
Cash and cash equivalents 10,345 16,496 – –
Trade and other payables – (136) – –
Overall exposure arising from 

recognised assets and liabilities 14,459 16,388 9,032 –

2008
Sterling
Pound

’000

Singapore
Dollar

’000

Philippine
Peso
’000

Euro
’000

The Group
Trading securities 2,425 – 3,763 –
Trade and other receivables 11 245 – 3
Cash and cash equivalents 10,287 14,304 – 5,280
Trade and other payables – (407) – –
Overall exposure arising from 

recognised assets and liabilities 12,723 14,142 3,763 5,283
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25.  Financial Risk Management and Fair Values (Cont’d)
 (e) Currency risk (Cont’d)

2009

Sterling
Pound

’000

Singapore
Dollar

’000

Philippine
Peso
’000

Euro
’000

The Company

Trading securities 4,114 – 9,032 –

Trade and other receivables – 28 – –

Cash and cash equivalents 10,345 3,577 – –

Trade and other payables – (136) – –

Overall exposure arising from 
recognised assets and liabilities 14,459 3,469 9,032 –

2008

Sterling
Pound

’000

Singapore
Dollar

’000

Philippine
Peso
’000

Euro
’000

The Company

Trading securities 2,425 – 3,763 –

Trade and other receivables 11 245 – 3

Cash and cash equivalents 10,287 1,308 – 5,280

Trade and other payables – (407) – –

Overall exposure arising from 
recognised assets and liabilities 12,723 1,146 3,763 5,283

  (iii)  Sensitivity analysis

    The sensitivity analysis has been determined assuming that the change in foreign exchange rates had 
occurred at the balance sheet date and had been applied to the Group’s and the Company’s exposure 
to currency risk for financial instruments in existence at that date.

    A 10% strengthening of the following foreign currencies against the functional currency of each of 
the Group’s entities at the balance sheet date would impact the Group’s and the Company’s profit/
loss after tax and revenue reserve by the amounts shown below.  There is no impact on the other 
components of consolidated equity.  The analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular, interest 
rates, remain constant.

Increase in profit 
after tax and revenue 

reserve

Decrease in loss after 
tax and increase in 

revenue reserve
The Group 2009 2008

HK$’000 HK$’000

Sterling Pound 17,885 14,545

Singapore Dollar 9,029 7,583

Philippine Peso 151 60

Euro – 5,740
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25.  Financial Risk Management and Fair Values (Cont’d)
 (e) Currency risk (Cont’d)

Increase in profit 
after tax and revenue 

reserve

Decrease in loss after 
tax and increase in 

revenue reserve
The Company 2009 2008

HK$’000 HK$’000

Sterling Pound 17,885 14,545

Singapore Dollar 1,911 614

Philippine Peso 151 60

Euro – 5,740

    A 10% weakening of the above currencies against the functional currency of each of the Group’s 
entities at the balance sheet date would have had the equal but opposite effect on the above currencies 
to the amounts shown above, on the basis that all other variables, in particular, interest rates, remain 
constant.

    The stated changes represent management’s assessment of reasonably possible changes in foreign 
exchange rates over the period until the next annual balance sheet date.  In this respect, it is assumed 
that the pegged rate between the Hong Kong dollar and the United States dollar would be materially 
unaffected by any changes in movement in value of the United States dollar against other currencies.  
Results of the analysis as presented in the above table represent the effect of the Group’s and the 
Company’s profit/loss after tax and revenue reserve measured in the respective foreign currencies, 
translated into Hong Kong dollar at the exchange rate ruling at the balance sheet date for presentation 
purposes. The analysis is performed on the same basis for 2008.

 (f) Fair values

(i)  Financial instruments carried at fair value

    The following table presents the carrying value of financial instruments measured at fair value at the 
balance sheet date across the three levels of the fair value hierarchy defined in HKFRS 7, Financial 
Instruments: Disclosures, with the fair value of each financial instrument categorised in its entirety 
based on the lowest level of input that is significant to that fair value measurement.  The levels are 
defined as follows:

	 	 	 •	 	Level	1	(highest	level):	fair	values	measured	using	quoted	prices	(unadjusted)	in	active	markets	
for identical financial instruments

	 	 	 •	 	Level	 2:	 fair	 values	 measured	 using	 quoted	 prices	 in	 active	 markets	 for	 similar	 financial	
instruments, or using valuation techniques in which all significant inputs are directly or 
indirectly based on observable market data

	 	 	 •	 	Level	3	(lowest	level):	fair	values	measured	using	valuation	techniques	in	which	any	significant	
input is not based on observable market data
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25.  Financial Risk Management and Fair Values (Cont’d)
 (f) Fair values (Cont’d)

The Group
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

2009
Assets 
Equities securities held for trading :
- Listed 52,402 – – 52,402
- Unlisted 6,200 – 36,738 42,938

58,602 – 36,738 95,340

The Company
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

2009
Assets 
Equities securities held for trading :
- Listed 52,402 – – 52,402
- Unlisted – – 36,738 36,738

52,402 – 36,738 89,140

   During the year, there were no transfers between financial instruments in Level 1 and Level 2.

   The movement in the Level 3 financial instruments measured at fair value is as follows:

The Group and Company
Fair value through profit or loss

Equity securities
HK$’000

At 1 January 2009 25,632
Net unrealised gains in profit or loss 11,106
At 31 December 2009 36,738

    The gains or losses for the period recognised in profit or loss of the unlisted equity securities is 
presented in “other net income/losses” in the consolidated income statement.

    The equity securities that are recorded in the Level 3 category comprise investment in a fund that does 
not have a published net asset value. As a result, the fair value of these equity securities is measured 
using valuation techniques that incorporate assumptions that are not evidenced by prices from 
observable current market transactions. Instead, they are based on unobservable inputs reflecting 
assumptions about the way assets would be priced.

   
     The following table shows the sensitivity of the fair value of equity securities to reasonably possible 

alternative assumptions:

Effect on fair value

Fair value
Favourable 

changes
Unfavourable 

changes
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Equity securities 36,738 1,537 (1,537)
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25.  Financial Risk Management and Fair Values (Cont’d)
 (g) Estimation of fair values 

   All financial instruments are carried at amounts not materially different from their fair values as at 31 December 
2009 and 2008.

   The following summarises the major methods and assumptions used in estimating the fair values of financial 
instruments.

  (i) Securities

    Fair value is based on quoted market prices at the balance sheet date without any deduction for 
transaction costs.  Fair values for the unquoted equity investments are estimated using the applicable 
price/earning ratios for similar listed companies adjusted for the specific circumstances of the issuer.

  (ii) Other financial assets and liabilities

    The carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities with maturity of less than one year (including 
trade and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents, and trade and other payables) are assumed to 
approximate their fair values.

26.  Material Related Party Transactions

 During the year, there were the following material related party transactions:

2009 2008
 HK$’000  HK$’000 

Dividend income received from related company 836 2,047

Inc ome received from provision of hospitality and other related services to 
related companies 2,249 3,246

Proceed received from transfer of motor vehicle to a related company 501 –

Rental received from a related company 287 –

Accounting fee paid to a related company (132) (132)

  As at 31 December 2008, the Group’s 50% jointly controlled entity, MindChamps deposited cash with a related 
financial institution amounting to HK$8.0 million and during the year, interest income of HK$0.10 million was 
received.

 Key management personnel remuneration

  Remuneration for key management personnel of the Group, including amounts paid to the Company’s directors as 
disclosed in note 8 and certain of the highest paid employees as disclosed in note 9, is as follows:

The Group
2009 2008

 HK$’000  HK$’000 

Short-term employee benefits 4,495 3,799

 Total remuneration is included in “staff costs” (see note 5).
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27.  Commitments

 a)  Capital commitments outstanding at 31 December 2009 not provided for in the financial statements were as 
follows:

The Group
2009 2008

 HK$’000  HK$’000 

Commitments in respect of capital contribution to an associate – 121,000

 b)  At 31 December 2009, the total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases 
payable as follows:

The Group
2009 2008

 HK$’000  HK$’000 

Within 1 year 1,101 8,404

After 1 year but within 5 years 233 9,673

1,334 18,077

   For the year ended 31 December 2008, the minimum lease payments included the Group’s share of the jointly 
controlled entity operating lease rental for office space and premises amounting to HK$14,728,000. No such 
figure is being included for the year ended 31 December 2009 following the disposal of the Group’s equity 
interest in the jointly controlled entity in March 2009.

   The Group’s other leases run for a period of between one to three years.  One of the leases includes an option 
to renew the lease on expiry.  The leases do not include any contingent rental.

28.  Employee Retirement Benefits

  In United States, the Group operates a defined contribution plan (the “Plan”).  Under the Plan, employees may elect 
to contribute a percentage of their regular compensation to the Plan and to direct the distribution of these amounts 
among the Plan’s investment options.  The Group matches 50% of each employee’s contributions up to a maximum 
of 3% of the employee’s annual base compensation. 

  At the balance sheet date, approximately HK$6,200,000 (2008: HK$5,900,000) has been included in trading 
securities (see note 20).

29. Immediate And Ultimate Holding Companies

  The immediate holding company at 31 December 2009 is City Developments Limited.  The Directors consider the 
ultimate holding company at 31 December 2009 to be Hong Leong Investment Holdings Pte. Ltd.  Both companies 
are incorporated in the Republic of Singapore.  The immediate holding company produces financial statements 
available for public use.
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30. Comparative Figures

  As a result of the application of HKAS 1 (revised 2007), Presentation of Financial Statements, and HKFRS 8, Operating 
Segments, certain comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to current year’s presentation and to provide 
comparative amounts in respect of items disclosed for the first time in 2009.  Further details of these developments 
are disclosed in note 2.

  The comparative income statement has also been re-presented as if an operation discontinuing during the current 
year had been discontinued from the start of the comparative year.

31. Accounting Estimates And Judgements

  Notes 15, 16 and 17 contain information about the assumptions and the risk factors relating to impairment of plant 
and equipment, intangible assets and interests in subsidiaries.

32.  Possible impact of amendments, new standards and interpretations issued but not yet effective 
for the year ended 31 December 2009

  Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the HKICPA has issued a number of amendments, new standards 
and interpretations which are not yet effective for the year ended 31 December 2009 and which have not been 
adopted in these financial statements.

Effective for accounting 
periods beginning on or after

HKFRS 3 (Revised) Business combinations 1 July 2009

Amendments to HKAS 27 Consolidated and separate financial statements 1 July 2009

Amendments to HKAS 39 Financial instruments: Recognition and 
measurement – Eligible hedged items

1 July 2009

HK(IFRIC) 17 Distributions of non-cash assets to owners 1 July 2009

Improvements to HKFRSs 2009 1 July 2009 or 1 January 2010

  The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what the impact of these amendments, new standards and 
new interpretations is expected to be in the period of initial application.  So far it has concluded that the adoption of 
them is unlikely to result in a restatement of the Group’s results and financial position.
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